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Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Enzon,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” and similar
terms mean Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than statements that are purely historical, are forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,”
“potential,” “anticipates,” “plans,” or “intends” or the negative thereof, or other variations thereof, or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy.
Forward-looking statements are based upon management’s present expectations, objectives, anticipations, plans, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies
regarding the future and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, events or developments to be materially
different from those indicated in such forward-looking statements, including the risks and uncertainties set forth in Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. These risks and uncertainties should be considered carefully and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements. As such, no assurance can be given that the future results covered by the forward-looking statements will be achieved. All information in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the date of the filing of this report, unless otherwise indicated. We do not intend to update this
information to reflect events after the date of this report.

Our website is located at www.enzon.com . Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports
on Form 8-K and our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, can be obtained, free of charge as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to the SEC, by calling (732) 980-4500, through the SEC’s website by clicking the SEC
Filings link from the Investors and Media page on our website at www.enzon.com or directly from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov . Our website and the
information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART L.
Item 1. Business

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “Enzon,” “we” or “us”), manages its sources of royalty revenues from
existing licensing arrangements with other companies primarily related to sales of certain drug products that utilize our proprietary technology. In 2018, the
primary source of our royalties and milestones revenues was a milestone payment of $7 million due from Servier IP UK Limited (“Servier”). On December 20,
2018, we were notified that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) approved Servier’s Biologics License Application (“BLA”) for calaspargase
pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™), also known as SC Oncaspar. Pursuant to an agreement originally entered into with Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.
(“Sigma-Tau”) in November 2009, and ultimately assigned to Servier, we earned a milestone payment of $7.0 million. Accordingly, we recorded revenue and
a milestone receivable of $7.0 million at December 31, 2018. In 2017, the primary source of our royalties and milestones revenues was the revenues received
from Nektar Therapeutics, Inc. (“Nektar”) pursuant to the Second Amendment (“Nektar Second Amendment”) to our Cross-License and Option Agreement
(the “Nektar License Agreement”), which generated non-recurring milestones revenues of $7.0 million (see below). The receipt of this $7.0 million satisfied
all future obligations of royalty payments to us pursuant to the Nektar License Agreement.

Prior to 2017, the primary source of our royalty revenues was derived from sales of PegIntron, which is marketed by Merck & Co., Inc. (“Merck”).
The Company currently has no clinical operations and limited corporate operations. We have no intention of resuming any clinical development activities or
acquiring new sources of royalty revenues. Royalty revenues from sales of Peglntron accounted for (2)% and 7% of our total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, net of the effects of adjustments for Merck’s recoupment of previously overpaid royalties. The effects of such
recoupments were recorded as a decrease of royalty revenues aggregating approximately $280,000 and $877,000 for the years ending December 31,2018 and
2017, respectively, as discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2018, Merck notified us that a downward adjustment of approximately $313,000 in royalties was necessary, resulting primarily from
product returns relating to periods prior to December 31, 2017. Accordingly, at December 31, 2017, we accrued a liability to Merck of approximately
$313,000 and partially offset that amount by the $88,000 that was due to us from Merck. Thus, we recorded a net payable to Merck of approximately
$225,000 at December 31,2017. In January 2018, Merck paid the $88,000 to us, which increased the liability to $313,000. During the second quarter, Enzon
earned approximately $60,000 of royalties, which reduced the royalty payable to Merck to $253,000. During the third quarter of 2018, Merck notified us of
an additional recoupment of approximately $280,000, resulting primarily from product rebates and returns. In the fourth quarter, Enzon earned approximately
$94,000 of royalties. Accordingly, the liability to Merck was $439,000 at December 31, 2018, as discussed in Note 4 to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In April 2013, we announced that we intended to distribute excess cash, expected to arise from royalty revenues, in the form of periodic dividends to
stockholders. On February 4,2016, our Board adopted a Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution (the “Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution”), the implementation
of which has been postponed. (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)




On January 30,2019, we entered into a letter agreement with Servier, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Les Laboratoires Servier, in connection
with the asset purchase agreement, dated as of November 9, 2009 (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”), by and between Klee Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Defiante
Farmacéutica, S.A. (“Defiante”) and Sigma-Tau, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand. Under the letter agreement, Servier, as successor-in-
interest to Defiante, has confirmed its obligation to pay us a $7.0 million milestone payment related to SC Oncaspar as a result of the FDA’s December 20,
2018 approval of calaspargase pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™) as a component of a multi-agent chemotherapeutic regimen for the treatment of
acute lymphoblastic leukemia in pediatric and young adult patients age 1 month to 21 years. In addition, under the letter agreement, we agreed to waive
Servier’s obligations to pursue the development of SC Oncaspar in Europe and the approval of SC Oncaspar by the European Medicines Agency (“EMEA”)
under the Asset Purchase Agreement, provided that the Company is not waiving Servier’s obligation to make any applicable milestone payment to the
Company upon EMEA approval, if any, of SC Oncaspar. Servier is required to pay the $7.0 million milestone payment to us within three business days
following the parties’ completion of procedures for claiming benefits under the double tax treaty between the United States and the United Kingdom. We
expect to receive the $7.0 million milestone payment from Servier by the third quarter of 2019. However, no assurance can be given as to the timing of our
receipt of the payment.

On June 26,2017, we entered into the Nektar Second Amendment, wherein Nektar agreed to buy-out all remaining payment obligations to us under
the Nektar License Agreement. In consideration for fully paid-up licenses under the Nektar License Agreement and for the dismissal with prejudice of all
claims and counterclaims asserted in the litigation with Nektar, Nektar agreed to pay us the sum of $7.0 million, which satisfied all future obligations of
royalty payments pursuant to the Nektar License Agreement. The entire amount due was received during 2017. Accordingly, we recorded revenue of $7.0
million in 2017.

We have a marketing agreement with Micromet AG (“Micromet”), now part of Amgen, Inc. (the “Micromet Marketing Agreement”), that was entered
into in 2004, under which Micromet is the exclusive marketer of the parties’ combined intellectual property portfolio in the field of single-chain antibody
technology. Under the Micromet Marketing Agreement, the parties agreed to share, on an equal basis, in any licensing fees, milestone payments and
royalties revenue received by Micromet in connection with any licenses of the patents within the portfolio by Micromet to any third party during the term of
the collaboration. To our knowledge, Micromet has a license agreement with Viventia Biotech (Barbados) Inc. (“Viventia”), now part of Sesen Bio, Inc.
(“Sesen”) that was entered into in 2005, under which Micromet granted Viventia nonexclusive rights, with certain sublicense rights, for know-how and
patents allowing exploitation of certain single chain antibody products, which patents cover some key aspects of Vicinium, one of Sesen’s drug candidates
that is in Phase 3 clinical trials being evaluated for the treatment of patients with non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. To our knowledge, Micromet is
entitled to receive (i) certain milestone payments with respect to the filing of a new drug application (“NDA”) for Vicinium with the FDA or the filing of a
marketing approval application for Vicinium with the EMEA; (ii) certain milestone payments with respect to the first commercial sale of Vicinium in the U.S.
or Europe and (iii) certain royalties on net sales for ten years from the first commercial sale of Vicinium. Pursuant to the Micromet Marketing Agreement, we
would be entitled to a 50% share of these milestone payments and royalties received by Micromet. Due to the challenges associated with developing and
obtaining approval for drug products, there is substantial uncertainty whether any of these milestones will be achieved. We also have no control over the
time, resources and effort that Sesen may devote to its programs and limited access to information regarding or resulting from such programs. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance that we will receive any of the milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing Agreement. We will not recognize
revenue until all revenue recognition requirements are met.

Commencing on March 1,2016, we changed the location of our principal executive offices to 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford, New Jersey,
07016. We entered into an office service agreement with Regus Management Group, LLC (“Regus”) for use of office space at this location effective March 1,
2016. Under the agreement, in exchange for our right to use the office space at this location, we were required to pay Regus an initial service retainer of
$2,418 and thereafter pay Regus a monthly fee of $1,209 until February 28, 2017. This agreement was renewed for two one-year extensions, until February
28,2019, for a monthly fee 0f $1,259. In June 2018, Regus and we agreed to end the lease on August 31, 2018, and replace it with an updated office service
agreement. We entered into an office service agreement with Regus for mailbox plus, telephone answering, and virtual office services effective September 1,
2018. Under the agreement, in exchange for the services provided by Regus, we were required to pay Regus an initial service retainer of $259 and thereafter
pay Regus a monthly fee of $259 until August 31,2019.

Effective July 1,2018, we entered into an office rental agreement with Equinox Junior, LLC (“Equinox”) for use of office space at 3556 Main Street,
Manchester, VT, 05225. Under this agreement, in exchange for our right to use the office space at this location, we are required to pay Equinox a monthly fee
of $708 until June 30,2019.




Plan of Dissolution

On February 4, 2016, our Board of Directors adopted the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution pursuant to which the Company would, subject to
obtaining requisite stockholder approval, be liquidated and dissolved in accordance with Sections 280 and 281(a) of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware. In approving the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, our Board of Directors had considered, among other factors, the ability of the
Company to obtain no-action relief from the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to suspend certain of our reporting obligations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the anticipated cost savings if such relief is granted by the SEC. Upon further review, our Board of
Directors determined that it would be fair, advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to postpone seeking stockholder approval
of'the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution until a later time to be determined by our Board of Directors.

From time to time, our Board of Directors reviews the Company’s status and prospects in deciding on the timing of dissolution and liquidation of
the Company pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution. If our Board of Directors determines to seek stockholder approval of such plan and such
plan is approved by our stockholders and implemented by the Company, it is expected that our corporate existence will continue for the purpose of winding
up our business and affairs for at least three years. We have forecasted minimal or no royalty or milestone revenues for the foreseeable future. In light of the
uncertainty as to whether any of the milestones under the Micromet Marketing Agreement would be achieved, this forecast assumes that we would not
receive any milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing Agreement.

ROYALTIES

We currently receive royalty revenues from existing licensing arrangements with Merck primarily related to sales of two marketed drug products,

namely, Peglntron ® and Sylatron ® Until 2017, in recent years, royalty revenues from Merck were our primary source of revenues. In 2018, we earned a $7
million milestone payment from Servier in connection with its receiving FDA approval for ASPARLAS, also known as SC Oncaspar. In 2017, we earned $7
million in royalties from Nektar in connection with our entering into the Nektar Second Amendment. Royalty revenues from sales of PegIntron accounted for
approximately (2)% and 7% of our total revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, net of the effects of adjustments for
Merck’s recoupment of previously overpaid royalties. Our right to receive royalties on U.S. and European sales of Peglntron expired in 2016 and 2018,
respectively.

Sales of Peglntron have been in decline since 2008. Products that compete with Peglntron have been and potentially will be introduced by other
drug manufacturers. In addition, there are multiple oral drug therapies, both available and in development, that have been effective for treatment of hepatitis
C that do not require interferon. As a result, we expect sales of PegIntron-related products to continue their declining trend.

We have out-licensed our proprietary PEGylation and single-chain antibody, or SCA, technologies on our own and through agreements with Nektar
and Micromet AG (“Micromet”). Micromet was acquired by Amgen in 2012. Under our Cross-License and Option Agreement with Nektar, Nektar had the
lead role in granting sublicenses for certain of our PEGylation patents and we receive royalties on sales of any approved product for which a sublicense has
been granted. Pursuant to the Nektar Second Amendment, we are no longer entitled to any royalties or immunity fees from Nektar under the Nektar License
Agreement.




PATENTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

We have a portfolio of issued U.S. patents, many of which have foreign counterparts. Of the patents owned or exclusively licensed by us, one relates
to PegIntron. The patent related to Peglntron (peginterferon alfa-2b) expired in the U.S. in 2016 and expired outside of the U.S. in 2018 (including any patent
term extensions), except for Japan, where the patent was extended until 2021 and Malaysia and Chile, where the patent expires in 2020 and 2024,
respectively. Although we believe that our patents provide certain protection from competition, we cannot assure you that such patents will be of substantial
protection or commercial benefit to us, will afford us adequate protection from competing products, or will not be challenged or declared invalid. In addition,
we cannot assure you that additional U.S. patents or foreign patent equivalents will be issued to us.

Patents for individual products extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in the various
countries where patent protection is obtained. Many of our patents have expired or are nearing the end of their patent protection period. The actual protection
afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal
remedies in the country.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Although we are no longer engaged in clinical activities, our patent assignees are subject to various government regulatory processes. The FDA and
comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries impose substantial requirements on the clinical development,
manufacture, and marketing of pharmaceutical products. These agencies and other federal, state, local and foreign entities regulate research and development
activities and the inspection, testing, manufacture, quality assurance, safety, effectiveness, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, record-keeping,
approval, and promotion of products. Drug products require regulatory approval before commercialization. In particular, therapeutic products for human use
are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical testing and other requirements of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the Public Health Service Act,
implemented by the FDA, as well as similar statutory and regulatory requirements of foreign countries. Obtaining these marketing approvals and
subsequently complying with ongoing statutory and regulatory requirements is costly and time consuming. Any failure by our collaborators, licensors or
licensees to obtain, or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approval or in complying with post-approval requirements, could adversely affect our ability to
receive product or royalty revenues.

The approval process can take a number of years, if approval is obtained at all, and often requires substantial financial resources, including license
application fees. The results of preclinical studies and initial clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of the results from large-scale clinical trials, and
clinical trials may be subject to additional costs, delays or modifications due to a number of factors, including the difficulty in obtaining enough patients,
clinical investigators, drug supply, or financial support.

Any products manufactured or distributed by our licensees pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to extensive continuing regulation by the FDA,
including record-keeping requirements and a requirement to report adverse experiences with the product. In addition to continued compliance with standard
regulatory requirements, the FDA also may require post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the marketed drug product.
Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product
are discovered following approval.

Even after FDA approval has been obtained, and often as a condition to expedited approval, further studies, including post-marketing studies, are
typically required by the FDA. Results of post-marketing studies may limit or expand the further marketing of the products. If the developer of a product
proposes any modifications to the product, including changes in indication, manufacturing or testing processes, manufacturing facility or labeling, an NDA
or BLA supplement may be required to be submitted to and approved by the FDA.




We cannot predict the extent of government regulation that might result from current or future legislation or administrative action. Any proposed or
actual changes could cause our collaborators to limit or eliminate spending on development projects and may otherwise impact us. We cannot predict the
likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that might result from current or future legislative or administrative action, either in the U.S.
or abroad. Additionally, in both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our proposed products will depend, in part, upon the availability of reimbursement
from third-party payors, such as government health administration authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations.
Significant uncertainty often exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care products. In addition, third-party payors are increasingly
challenging the price and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services.

With respect to patented products, delays imposed by the government approval process may materially reduce the period during which we will have
the exclusive right to exploit them.

EMPLOYEES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

We currently have no employees. Our executive officers provide services to us on a consulting basis.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have made forward-looking statements in an attempt to better enable the reader to understand our
future prospects and make informed judgments. By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to numerous factors that may influence outcomes or

even prevent their eventual realization. Such factors may be external to the Company and entirely outside of our control.

We cannot guarantee that our assumptions and expectations will be correct. Failure of events to be achieved or of certain underlying assumptions to
prove accurate could cause actual results to vary materially from past results and those anticipated or projected. We do not intend to update forward-looking
statements.

Certain risks and uncertainties are discussed below. However, it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Accordingly, you should not
consider this recitation to be complete.




Risks Relating to the Proposed Dissolution and Liquidation
The proposed dissolution and liquidation of the Company may not be completed in a timely manner or at all.

On February 4, 2016, our Board of Directors adopted a Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, pursuant to which the Company would, subject to
obtaining requisite stockholder approval, be liquidated and dissolved in accordance with Sections 280 and 281(a) of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware. In approving the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, our Board of Directors had considered, among other factors, the ability of the
Company to obtain no-action relief from the SEC to suspend certain of the Company’s reporting obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and the anticipated cost savings if such relief'is granted by the SEC. After further consideration, our Board of Directors determined that it would be
fair, advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to postpone seeking stockholder approval of the Plan of Liquidation and
Dissolution until a later time to be determined by our Board of Directors.

From time to time, our Board of Directors reviews the Company’s status and prospects in deciding on the timing of dissolution and liquidation of the
Company pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution. If our Board of Directors determines to seek stockholder approval of such plan and such plan
is approved by our stockholders and implemented by the Company, it is expected that our corporate existence will continue for the purpose of winding up
our business and affairs for at least three years. We have forecasted minimal or no royalty or milestone revenues for the foreseeable future. In light of the
uncertainty as to whether any of the milestones under the Micromet Marketing Agreement would be achieved, this forecast assumes that we would not
receive any milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing Agreement.

The amount we distribute to our stockholders as liquidating distributions, if any, pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution may be
substantially less than estimated.

At present, we cannot determine with certainty the amount of any liquidating distribution to our stockholders if the Plan of Liquidation and
Dissolution is implemented. The amount of cash ultimately distributed to our stockholders in any liquidating distribution pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation
and Dissolution depends on, among other things, the amount of our liabilities, obligations and expenses and claims against us, and the amount of the reserves
that we establish during the liquidation process. Estimates of these amounts may be inaccurate. Factors that could impact these estimates include the
following: (i) if any of the estimates regarding the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, including the expenses to satisfy outstanding obligations, liabilities
and claims during the liquidation process, are inaccurate, (ii) if litigation is brought against us or our directors and officers, if unforeseen claims are asserted
against us, we will have to defend or resolve such claims or establish a reasonable reserve before making distributions to our stockholders, (iii) if the estimates
regarding the expenses to be incurred in the liquidation process, including expenses of personnel required and other operating expenses (including legal,
accounting and other professional fees) necessary to dissolve and liquidate the Company, are inaccurate and (iv) if we continue to incur significant expenses
related to ongoing reporting obligations.

Risks Relating to the Company and its Operations

Until 2017, in recent years, we derived most of our royalty revenues from continued sales of Peglntron, which have been in sharp decline and have been
subject to recoupments for substantial returns and rebates. In addition, our right to receive royalties on U.S. and European sales of PegIntron expired in
2016 and 2018, respectively, which has negatively impacted our royalty revenues.

Until 2017, in recent years, we had derived most of our royalty revenues from continued sales of Peglntron, which is marketed by Merck. Royalty
revenues from sales of Peglntron accounted for approximately (2)% and 7% of our total royalty revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, net of the effects of adjustments for Merck’s recoupment of previously overpaid royalties. Sales of PegIntron have been in sharp decline in
recent years, and our right to receive royalties on U.S. and European sales of PegIntron expired in 2016 and 2018, respectively, which adversely affected our
operating results and financial position. As reported by Merck, sales declines were driven by lower volumes in nearly all regions as the availability of new
therapeutic options resulted in continued loss of market share. It is unlikely that Merck will continue to generate sales of Peglntron at levels that would
enable us to receive royalties in amounts that are comparable with the amounts of royalties that we have received in recent years. In addition, product returns
and rebates may limit future royalties and allow Merck to recoup prior paid royalties. Neither the amount nor timing of resources dedicated by Merck to the
marketing of Peglntron nor Merck’s policies related to product returns and rebates is within our control. In addition, there are multiple oral drug therapies,
both available and in development, that have been effective for treatment of hepatitis C that do not require interferon. As a result, we expect that sales of
Peglntron-related products will continue their declining trend.




We may not be able to sustain profitability and we may incur losses over the next several years.

We have incurred losses in the past and have limited sources of revenues. Our revenues and operating results will likely fluctuate in future periods
due to variations in our recurring royalty revenues, which are expected to continue to decline. In anticipation of the revenue decline, we have
commensurately reduced our operating expenses, including the cessation of our research and development activities, elimination of our workforce,
discontinuance of our significant lease commitment and the use of consultants in order to sustain profitability. However, with the sustained decline in
revenue and the expectation of continued operating expenses, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in maintaining profitability.

Certain of our rights to receive royalties on sales of Peglntron and sales of other drug products have already expired and our remaining rights to
receive royalties will expire in the near future and we currently do not intend to acquire new sources of royalty revenues.

Merck’s obligation to pay us royalties on sales of Peglntron terminates, on a country-by-country basis, upon the later of the date on which the last
patent to contain a claim covering Peglntron expires in the country or 15 years after the date on which Peglntron was first approved for commercial marketing
in such country. Our right to receive royalties on sales of Peglntron expired in the U.S. in 2016, expired in Europe in 2018 and will expire in Malaysia in
2020, Japan in 2021 and Chile in 2024. We currently do not intend to acquire new sources of royalty revenues. As a result, following expirations of our rights
to receive royalties on sales of Peglntron and sales of other drug products or potential drug products, we may not have sufficient revenues to continue
operations.

We may not realize our deferred income tax assets.

The ultimate realization of our deferred income tax assets is dependent upon generating future taxable income, executing tax planning strategies,
and reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. We have recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred income tax assets. The valuation
allowance may fluctuate as conditions change. Our ability to utilize net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards to offset our future taxable income and/or to
recover previously paid taxes would be limited if we were to undergo an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code (the “IRC”). In general, an “ownership change” occurs whenever the percentage of the stock of a corporation owned by “S-percent shareholders”
(within the meaning of Section 382 of the IRC) increases by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of the stock of such corporation
owned by such “5-percent shareholders” at any time over the testing period.

An ownership change under Section 382 of the IRC would establish an annual limitation to the amount of NOL carryforwards we could utilize to
offset our taxable income in any single year. The application of these limitations might prevent full utilization of the deferred tax assets attributable to our
NOL carryforwards. There can be no assurance that we will not undergo an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382. See Note 10 to our
Financial Statements, included in Item 8 in this document.

We have outsourced all corporate functions, which makes us more dependent on third parties to perform these corporate functions.

We have outsourced all corporate functions, which makes us more dependent on third parties for the performance of these functions. To the extent
that we are unable to effectively reallocate employee responsibilities, retain key officers as consultants, maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting and effective disclosure controls and procedures, establish and maintain agreements with competent third-party contractors on terms that are
acceptable to us, or effectively manage the work performed by any retained third-party contractors, our ability to manage the operations of our business
effectively could be compromised.

‘We may be subject to a variety of types of product liability or other claims based on allegations that the use of our product candidates by participants in
our previously conducted clinical trials has resulted in adverse effects, and our insurance may not cover all product liability or other claims.

We may face liability claims related to the use or misuse of our product candidates in previously conducted clinical trials. These claims may be
expensive to defend and may result in large judgments against us. Any such claims against us, regardless of their merit, might result in significant costs to
defend or awards against us, and our insurance coverage and resources may not be sufficient to satisfy any liability resulting from such claims. A successful
product liability or other claim brought against us could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance
coverage, could decrease our cash and materially harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We are party to license and other collaboration agreements that contain complex commercial terms that could result in disputes, litigation or
indemnification liability that could cause the value of the Company and our assets and the market price of our common stock to decline.

We are party to license, collaboration and other agreements with biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. These agreements contain complex
commercial terms, including royalties on drug sales based on a number of complex variables (including net sales calculations, geography, scope of patent
claim coverage, patent life and other factors) and indemnification obligations. From time to time, we may have dispute resolution discussions with third
parties regarding the appropriate interpretation of the complex commercial terms contained in our agreements. One or more disputes may arise or escalate in
the future regarding our agreements that may ultimately result in costly litigation and unfavorable interpretation of contract terms, which could cause the
value of the Company and our assets and the market price of our common stock to decline.

We are party to license agreements whereby we may receive royalties from products subject to regulatory approval.

Our licensees may be unable to maintain regulatory approvals for currently licensed products or obtain regulatory approvals for new products. Safety
issues could also result in the failure to maintain regulatory approvals or decrease revenues.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile.

Historically, the market price of our common stock has fluctuated over a wide range, and it is likely that the price of our common stock will continue
to be volatile in the future. The market price of our common stock could be impacted due to a variety of factors, including, in addition to global and industry-
wide events:

e thelevel of revenues we generate from royalties we receive;

e changes in our business plans;

e the losses we may incur;

e developments in patent or other proprietary rights owned or licensed by us, our collaborative partners or our competitors;
e public concern as to the safety and efficacy of products developed by others; and

o litigation.

In addition, due to one or more of the foregoing factors in one or more future quarters, our results of operations may fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that event, the market price of our common stock could materially decline.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets Group, Inc., which has a very limited trading market and, therefore, market
liquidity for our common stock is low and our stockholders’ ability to sell their shares of our common stock may be limited.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets Group, Inc. and the quotation of our common stock on the OTCQX market
does not assure that a liquid trading market exists or will develop. Stocks traded on the OTCQX market generally have very limited trading volume and
exhibit a wider spread between the bid/ask quotations than stocks traded on national exchanges. Moreover, a significant number of institutional investors
have investment policies that prohibit them from trading in stocks on the OTCQX marketplace. As a result, investors may find it difficult to dispose of, or to
obtain accurate quotations of the price of, our common stock. This significantly limits the liquidity of our common stock and may adversely affect the market
price of our common stock.

We do not currently, and are not expected in the future to, meet the listing standards of any national exchange. We presently anticipate that our
common stock will continue to be quoted on the OTCQX market. As a result, investors must bear the economic risk of holding their shares of our common
stock for an indefinite period of time. In the future, our common stock could become subject to “penny stock” rules which impose additional disclosure
requirements on broker-dealers and could further negatively impact market liquidity for our common stock and our stockholders’ ability to sell their shares of
our common stock.

The declaration of dividends is within the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to any applicable limitations under Delaware corporate law. Our
ability to pay dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our future royalty revenues, which are expected to decrease sharply over the next
several years, as well as our ability to manage expenses, including costs relating to our ongoing operations.

In April 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors intends to distribute excess cash, expected to arise from ongoing royalty revenues, in the
form of periodic dividends to our stockholders. The declaration of dividends is within the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to any applicable
limitations under Delaware corporate law, and, therefore, our Board of Directors could decide in the future not to declare dividends. In addition, our ability to
pay dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our future revenues from existing and any future royalties and/or milestone payments and our
ability to manage expenses, including costs relating to our ongoing operations. Our future revenues from existing royalties have decreased sharply over the
last several years and are expected to continue to decrease sharply over the next several years (and eventually cease altogether) due to eventual expirations
over time of our right to receive royalties under the terms of our existing licensing arrangements. Future revenues from existing royalties may also decline
due to decreases in the sales of the drug products for which we have the right to receive royalties. There is no assurance that we will have sufficient royalty
revenues to be able to pay dividends in the future. Moreover, if we file a Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, the applicable Delaware court may impose
limitations on our ability to declare dividends prior to the final dissolution of the Company. Any inability to pay dividends could cause the market price of
our common stock to decline significantly.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware corporate law may make it more difficult to acquire us, even though such
acquisitions may be beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware corporate law, could make it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us, even though such acquisitions may be beneficial to our stockholders. These anti-takeover provisions include:

e lack ofa provision for cumulative voting in the election of directors;

e the ability of our board to authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart a
takeover attempt;

e advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings; and

e limitations on who may call a special meeting of stockholders.

The provisions described above and provisions of Delaware corporate law relating to business combinations with interested stockholders may
discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us. These provisions may also discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring a large
portion of our securities, or initiating a tender offer, even if our stockholders might receive a premium for their shares in the acquisition over the then current
market price.

Our previous Section 382 rights plan expired on April 30,2017 and has not been replaced.
The issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect rights of our common stockholders.

Under our certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to three million shares of “blank check” preferred stock
and to determine the price, rights, preferences and privileges of those shares without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders
of common stock will be subject to the rights of the holders of any shares of preferred stock that may be issued in the future. In addition to discouraging a

takeover, as discussed above, this “blank check” preferred stock may have rights, including economic rights senior to the common stock, and, as a result, the
issuance of such preferred stock could have a material adverse effect on the market value of our common stock.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Since March 1, 2016, and July 1, 2018, we have
service agreements:

occupied the following New Jersey and Vermont office spaces, respectively, pursuant to office

Approx.

Square Approx.
Location Principal Use Footage Annual Rent Expiration
20 Commerce Drive (Suite 135), Cranford, New Jersey Executive offices 500 $ 3,000 August 31,2019
3556 Main Street, Manchester, Vermont Executive offices 500 $ 8,500 June 30,2019

We believe that the above office spaces are generally adequate for our present and anticipated future needs.

In February 2016, we terminated our prime lease and sublease and, effective March 1, 2016, we entered into an office service agreement for new

office space, as shown, above. See Item 1. Business.

We currently own no real property.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are engaged in litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business. There are currently no pending material litigation to
which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information

Since August 9, 2016, our common stock has been quoted for trading on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the trading
symbol “ENZN.”

Holders

As of February 8, 2019, there were 849 holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

In April 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors intends to distribute excess cash, expected to arise from ongoing royalty revenues, in the
form of periodic dividends to our stockholders. The declaration of dividends is within the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to any applicable
limitations under Delaware corporate law, and therefore our Board of Directors could decide in the future not to declare dividends. In addition, our ability to
pay dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our future revenues from existing royalties and our ability to manage expenses, including costs
relating to our ongoing operations.
Repurchase of Equity Securities
Common Stock

On December 21, 2010, our Board of Directors had authorized a share repurchase program under which we are authorized to repurchase up to $200
million of our outstanding common stock. Since the inception of this share repurchase program, the cumulative number of shares repurchased and retired

through December 31,2018 amounts to 16,174,578 shares at a total cost of $153.4 million, or an average cost per share of approximately $9.48.

Since December 2012, we have suspended repurchases under the share repurchase program and do not currently intend to resume repurchases under
the share repurchase program. Accordingly, no shares were repurchased in 2018 and 2017.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and
notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Forward-Looking Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. All statements contained in the following discussion, other than statements that are purely historical, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “potential,” “anticipates,”
“plans,” or “intends” or the negative thereof, or other variations thereof, or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy. Forward-looking
statements are based upon management’s present expectations, objectives, anticipations, plans, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future
and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, events or developments to be materially different from those
indicated in such forward-looking statements, including the risks and uncertainties set forth in Item 1 A. Risk Factors. These risks and uncertainties should be
considered carefully and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. As such, no assurance can be given that the
future results covered by the forward-looking statements will be achieved.

The percentage changes throughout the following discussion are based on amounts stated in thousands of dollars and not the rounded millions of
dollars reflected in this section.

Overview

In 2018, the primary source of our royalty revenues was related to a milestone payment of $7.0 million due from Servier. On December 20, 2018, we
were notified that the FDA approved Servier’s BLA for calaspargase pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™), also known as SC Oncaspar. Pursuant to an
agreement originally entered into with Sigma-Tau in July 2015, and ultimately assigned to Servier, we earned a milestone payment of $7 million.
Accordingly, we recorded revenue and a receivable of $7.0 million as of December 31, 2018. In 2017, the primary source of our royalty revenues was the
revenues from Nektar pursuant to the Nektar Second Amendment to the Nektar License Agreement with Nektar, which generated non-recurring royalty
revenues of $7 million (see below). The receipt of this $7 million satisfied all future obligations of royalty payments to us pursuant to the Nektar License
Agreement.

Prior to 2017, the primary source of our royalty revenues was derived from sales of PegIntron, which is marketed by Merck. We currently have no
clinical operations and limited corporate operations. We have no intention of resuming any clinical development activities or acquiring new sources of
royalty revenues. Royalty revenues from sales of Peglntron accounted for (2)% and 7% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, net of the effects of adjustments for Merck’s recoupment of previously overpaid royalties. The effects of such recoupments were recorded
as a decrease of royalty revenues aggregating approximately $280,000 and $877,000 for the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, as
discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2018, Merck notified us that a downward adjustment of approximately $313,000 in royalties was necessary, resulting primarily from
product returns relating to periods prior to December 31, 2017. Accordingly, at December 31, 2017, we accrued a liability to Merck of approximately
$313,000 and partially offset that amount by the $88,000 that was due to us from Merck. Thus, we recorded a net payable to Merck of approximately
$225,000 at December 31, 2017. In January 2018, Merck paid us the $88,000, which increased the liability to $313,000. During the second quarter, we
earned approximately $60,000 of royalties, which reduced the royalty payable to Merck to $253,000. During the third quarter of 2018, Merck notified us of
an additional recoupment of approximately $280,000, resulting primarily from product rebates and returns. In the fourth quarter, we earned approximately
$94,000 of royalties. Accordingly, the liability to Merck was $439,000 at December 31, 2018, as discussed in Note 4 to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In April 2013, we announced that we intended to distribute excess cash, expected to arise from royalty revenues, in the form of periodic dividends to

stockholders. On February 4, 2016, our Board adopted the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, the implementation of which has been postponed. (See Note
14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.)
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On January 30, 2019, we entered into a letter agreement with Servier, in connection with the Asset Purchase Agreement, by and between Klee
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Defiante and Sigma-Tau, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand. Under the letter agreement, Servier, as successor-in-
interest to Defiante, has confirmed its obligation to pay us a $7.0 million milestone payment related to SC Oncaspar as a result of the FDA’s December 20,
2018 approval of calaspargase pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™) as a component of a multi-agent chemotherapeutic regimen for the treatment of
acute lymphoblastic leukemia in pediatric and young adult patients age 1 month to 21 years. In addition, under the letter agreement, we agreed to waive
Servier’s obligations to pursue the development of SC Oncaspar in Europe and the approval of SC Oncaspar by the EMEA under the Asset Purchase
Agreement, provided that we are not waiving Servier’s obligation to make any applicable milestone payment to us upon EMEA approval, if any, of SC
Oncaspar. Servier is required to pay the $7.0 million milestone payment to us within three business days following the parties’ completion of procedures for
claiming benefits under the double tax treaty between the United States and the United Kingdom. We expect to receive the $7.0 million milestone payment
from Servier by the third quarter of2019. However, no assurance can be given as to the timing of our receipt of the payment.

On June 26,2017, we entered into the Nektar Second Amendment, wherein Nektar agreed to buy-out all remaining payment obligations to us under
the Nektar License Agreement. In consideration for fully paid-up licenses under the Nektar License Agreement and for the dismissal with prejudice of all
claims and counterclaims asserted in the litigation with Nektar, Nektar agreed to pay us the sum of $7.0 million, which satisfies all future obligations of
royalty payments pursuant to the Nektar License Agreement, the first $3.5 million of which was paid within one business day of the effective date of the
Nektar Second Amendment and the remaining $3.5 million was to be paid within one business day of January 5, 2018. Accordingly, we recorded revenue of
$7.0 million and a receivable of $3.5 million in the second quarter 0of2017. The remaining payment of $3.5 million was received in December 2017.

We may be entitled to certain potential future milestone payments contingent upon the achievement of certain regulatory approval-related
milestones by third-party licensees. There can be no assurance that the Company will receive any milestone payments resulting from its agreements with any
of our third-party licensees. We will not recognize revenue from any of our third-party licensees until all revenue recognition requirements are met.

Commencing on March 1, 2016, we changed the location of its principal executive offices to 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford, New Jersey,
07016. We entered into an office service agreement with Regus for use of office space at this location effective March 1, 2016. Under the agreement, in
exchange for our right to use the office space at this location, we were required to pay Regus an initial service retainer of $2,418 and thereafter pay Regus a
monthly fee of $1,209 until February 28, 2017. This agreement was renewed for two one-year extensions, until February 28, 2019, for a monthly fee of
$1,259. In June 2018, we and Regus agreed to end the lease on August 31, 2018, and replace it with an updated office service agreement. We entered into an
office service agreement with Regus for mailbox, plus telephone answering and virtual office services effective September 1, 2018. Under the agreement, in
exchange for the services provided by Regus, we were required to pay Regus a monthly fee of $259 until August 31,2019.

Effective July 1, 2018, we entered into an office rental agreement with Equinox for use of office space at 3556 Main Street, Manchester, VT, 05225.

Under this agreement, in exchange for our right to use the office space at this location, we are required to pay Equinox a monthly fee of $708 until June 30,
2019.
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Plan of Dissolution

On February 4, 2016, our Board of Directors adopted a Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, pursuant to which the Company would, subject to
obtaining requisite stockholder approval, be liquidated and dissolved in accordance with Sections 280 and 281(a) of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware. In approving the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, our Board of Directors had considered, among other factors, the ability of the
Company to obtain no-action relief from the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to suspend certain of the Company’s reporting obligations
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the anticipated cost savings if such reliefis granted by the SEC. Upon further review, our Board
of Directors determined that it would be fair, advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to postpone seeking stockholder
approval of the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution until a later time to be determined by our Board of Directors.

From time to time, our Board of Directors reviews the Company’s status and prospects in deciding on the timing of dissolution and liquidation of the
Company pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution. If our Board of Directors determines to seek stockholder approval of such plan and such plan
is approved by our stockholders and implemented by the Company, it is expected that our corporate existence will continue for the purpose of winding up
our business and affairs for at least three years. We have forecasted minimal or no royalty or milestone revenues for the foreseeable future. In light of the
uncertainty as to whether any of the milestones under the Micromet Marketing Agreement would be achieved, this forecast assumes that we would not
receive any milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing Agreement.

Results of Operations (in millions of dollars):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017

Revenues:

Royalties and milestones, net $ 69 § 8.4

Total revenues 6.9 8.4

Operating expenses:

General and administrative 1.1 1.4
Operating income 5.8 7.0

Income tax expense - (1.6)
Net income $ 58 $ 5.4
Overview

The following table summarizes our royalties earned in 2018 and 2017:
Royalties and Milestones Revenues (in millions of dollars):

For the Year Ended December 31,

%
2018 Change 2017
Royalties and milestones revenues 7.2 (23) 93
Less: Adjustment by Merck for returns and rebates 0.3) (67) 0.9)
$ 6.9 (18) $ 8.4

Until 2017, in recent years, our royalty revenues had been derived, primarily, from sales of Peglntron. In 2018 and 2017, we earned total royalties
and milestones revenues of approximately $6.9 million and $8.4 million, respectively. The revenues in 2018 resulted from $7.0 million earned pursuant to a
milestone reached by Servier. The revenues in 2017 were substantially attributable to the $7.0 million we received in connection with the Nektar Second
Amendment. Royalty revenues from sales of Peglntron accounted for approximately (2)% and 7% of our total royalty revenues in 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Our right to receive royalties on U.S. and European sales of PegIntron expired in 2016 and 2018, respectively.
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In the second quarter of 2017, Merck notified us that they discovered additional overpayments to us resulting from their inaccuracy as to the date
on which our right to receive royalties from various countries’ sales of PegIntron expired. Such net overpayment to us aggregated approximately $564,000 in
royalties during 2015 and 2016. Merck notified us that it intended to recover such overpayment from us by reducing future royalties to which we would
otherwise be entitled from Merck until the full amount of the overpayment had been recouped. In the third quarter of 2017, Merck again notified us that,
based on rebates and returns of Peglntron products, they had deducted a net amount of approximately $150,000 from aggregate royalties that were otherwise
due to us. We took exception to certain of the deductions taken by Merck as being inappropriate. In the fourth quarter of 2017, Merck corrected such
deductions and added a net $111,000, to the royalties that were otherwise due to the Company. The aggregate amount of royalties earned from Merck during
2017 was approximately $1.3 million. In March 2018, Merck notified us that an additional adjustment of approximately $313,000 was necessary, primarily,
due to returns from sales in China in the fourth quarter of 2017. Merck will recoup this through deductions from future royalties otherwise payable to us.
Accordingly, we recorded an aggregate reduction for overpayments, rebates and returns of approximately $1.6 million from the gross royalties earned during
2016 and 2017, leaving a balance due to Merck of approximately $225,000. This was recorded as a payable at December 31,2017.

In January 2018, Merck paid the $88,000 to the Company, which increased the liability to $313,000. During the second quarter, Enzon eamed
approximately $60,000 of royalties, which reduced the royalty payable to Merck to $253,000. During the third quarter of 2018, Merck notified the Company
of an additional recoupment of approximately $280,000, resulting primarily from product rebates and returns. In the fourth quarter, Enzon earned
approximately $94,000 of royalties. Accordingly, the liability to Merck was $439,000 at December 31, 2018, as discussed in Note 4 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Royalty revenues decreased approximately 100% in 2018 compared to 2017. This was primarily due to a 99% decrease in royalties on Peglntron,
including recoupments of previously overpaid royalties, aggregating approximately $280,000 in 2018. As reported by Merck, in recent years, sales declines
were driven by lower volumes in nearly all regions, as the availability of new therapeutic options resulted in continued loss of market share.

Any future revenues are heavily weighted towards royalties and revenues to be received from the use of our technology and are dependent upon
numerous factors outside of our control. Until 2017, we derived most of our royalty revenues from sales of Peglntron, which have been in decline since 2008.
Merck’s obligation to pay us royalties on sales of Peglntron terminates, on a country-by-country basis, upon the later of the date on which the last patent to
contain a claim covering Peglntron expires in the country or 15 years after the date on which Peglntron was first approved for commercial marketing in such
country. Our rights to receive royalties from sales of Peglntron expired in the U.S. in 2016, expired in Europe in 2018 and will expire in Malaysia in 2020,
Japan in 2021 and Chile in 2024.
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Other factors potentially affecting our royalty revenues include new or increased competition from products that may compete with the products for
which we receive royalties and the effectiveness of marketing by our licensees. Our rights to receive royalties and immunity fees on OMONTYS, CIMZIA and
Macugen terminated as a result of us entering into the Nektar Second Amendment in 2017.

In addition, there are multiple oral drug therapies, both available and in development, that have been effective for treatment of hepatitis C that do
not require interferon. As a result, we expect that sales of PegIntron-related products will continue their declining trend.

General and Administrative Expenses (in millions of dollars):
For the Year Ended December 31,

%
2018 Change 2017

General and administrative expenses $ 1.1 1) $ 14

For the year ended December 31, 2018, general and administrative expenses were $1.1 million, down 21% from $1.4 million in the prior year. The
change in 2018 from 2017 was primarily from filing fees and general insurance expense in connection with our lease termination, as well as a decrease in
professional fees, primarily legal, incurred in 2017 in connection with the Nektar Second Amendment.

In 2018 and 2017, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of consulting fees for executive services, outside professional services for
accounting, audit, tax, legal, financing activities and patent filing fees.

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed and enacted comprehensive tax legislation into law, H.R. 1, commonly referred to
as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). Except for certain provisions, the Tax Act is effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1,2018. The
items having the most significant impact resulting from the Tax Act on our financial statements, include: the lowering of the U.S. federal corporate income
tax rate, the repeal of the corporate alternative minimum tax, the treatment of alternative minimum tax credits as refundable tax credits and the remeasurement
of certain deferred tax assets and related valuation allowances. We completed the accounting for the tax impact of the Act as of December 31, 2017 and
recorded no provisional amounts.

As a result of royalty and milestone income for the year ended December 31,2018, we generated $5.8 million in taxable income before utilization of
net operating loss carryforwards. We utilized net operating loss carryforwards of $5.8 million to fully offset current year taxable income. Due to the valuation
allowance placed on our deferred tax assets, the deferred tax expense resulting from the usage and/or expiration of deferred tax assets was offset by a
corresponding deferred tax benefit from a reduction in valuation allowance, and we recorded no deferred tax expense during the year ended December 31,
2018. We are projecting future tax losses and have recorded a full valuation allowance against our remaining deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2018, as
we believe it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized.

These projections and beliefs are based upon a variety of estimates and numerous assumptions made by our management with respect to, among
other things, forecasted sales of the drug products for which we have the right to receive royalties and other matters, many of which are difficult to predict, are
subject to significant uncertainties and are beyond our control. As a result, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions upon which these
projections and beliefs are based will prove accurate, that the projected results will be realized or that the actual results will not be substantially higher or
lower than projected.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our current sources of liquidity are (i) our existing cash on hand and (ii) anticipated milestone payments from third-party licensee. While we no
longer have any research and development activities, we continue to retain rights to receive royalties and milestone payments from existing licensing
arrangements with other companies. We believe that our existing cash on hand and anticipated milestone payments will be sufficient to fund our operations,
at least, through February 29, 2020. However, our future royalty revenues are expected to be minimal over the next several years.

Cash provided by operating activities represents net income, as adjusted for certain non-cash items including the effect of changes in operating
assets and liabilities. Cash used in operating activities during 2018 was $1.0 million, as compared to cash provided by operating activities of $6.5 million in
2017. The decrease was due, primarily to the $.4 million increase in net income, as adjusted by the $7 million increase in milestone receivables (due from
Servier), and partially offset by an increase in accounts payable of approximately $0.2 million (recoupment by Merck).

Cash used in financing activities was none in 2018 and $6.6 million in 2017. In 2017, this was entirely attributable to the payments of
approximately $6.6 million in dividends on our common stock in September 2017.

The net effect of the foregoing was a decrease of cash of approximately $1.0 million, from $7.5 million at December 31, 2017 to $6.5 million at
December 31,2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred
to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow limited purposes. As of December 31,2018, we were not involved in any off-balance sheet special purpose entity transactions.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

A critical accounting policy is one that is both important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and results of operations and requires

management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain.
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Our consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”).
All applicable U.S. GAAP accounting standards effective as of December 31, 2018 have been taken into consideration in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Some of those estimates are subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results could differ from those
estimates. The following accounting policies and estimates have been highlighted as significant because changes to certain judgments and assumptions
inherent in these policies could affect our consolidated financial statements.

We base our estimates, to the extent possible, on historical experience. Historical information is modified as appropriate based on current business
factors and various assumptions that we believe are necessary to form a basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. We
evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis and make changes when necessary. Actual results could differ from our estimates.

Revenues

Royalties under our license agreements with third parties and pursuant to the sale of our former specialty pharmaceutical business are recognized
when reasonably determinable and earned through the sale of the product by the third party and collection is reasonably assured. Notification from the third-
party licensee of the royalties earned under the license agreement is the basis for royalty revenue recognition. This information generally is received from the
licensees in the quarter subsequent to the period in which the sales occur.

Contingent payments due under the asset purchase agreement for the sale of our former specialty pharmaceutical business are recognized as income
when the milestone has been achieved and collection is assured. Such payments are non-refundable and no further effort is required on our part or the other
party to complete the eaming process.

Income Taxes

Under the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets is provided for when it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of December 31, 2018, we believe, based on our projections,
that it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets, including our net operating losses from operating activities, will not be realized. We recognize
the benefit of an uncertain tax position that we have taken or expect to take on the income tax returns we file if it is more likely than not that we will be able
to sustain our position.

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation cost, measured by the fair value of the equity instruments issued, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized in the financial
statements as the respective awards are earned. The impact that stock-based compensation awards will have on our results of operations is a function of the
number of shares awarded, vesting and the trading price and fair value of our stock at the date of grant or modification. Fair value of stock-based
compensation is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, which employs weighted-average assumptions for the expected volatility of our stock,
the expected term until exercise of the options, the risk-free interest rate, and dividends, if any. Expected volatility is based on our historical stock price
information.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial statements and notes thereto appear on pages F-1 to F-25 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the direction of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), as of December 31, 2018. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures. Based on that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,2018.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

(c) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

It is the responsibility of the management of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries to establish and maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the
supervision of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of Enzon; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Enzon are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of Enzon; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of Enzon’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of Enzon.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework - 2013” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Our management concluded that as of December 31, 2018 our internal control over financial reporting was effective
based on those criteria.
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d) Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

/s/ Andrew Rackear /s/ Richard L. Feinstein

Andrew Rackear Richard L. Feinstein

Chief Executive Officer and Secretary Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) (Principal Financial Officer)

February 21,2019 February 21,2019
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Item 9B. Other Information
None.
PART III.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31,
2018, the information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy
statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120
days after December 31,2018 to include the information required by this Item 10.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31,
2018, the information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy
statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120
days after December 31,2018 to include the information required by this Item 11.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31,
2018, the information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy
statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120
days after December 31, 2018 to include the information required by this Item 12.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31,
2018, the information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy
statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120
days after December 31,2018 to include the information required by this Item 13.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31,
2018, the information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy

statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120
days after December 31,2018 to include the information required by this Item 14.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1), (a)(2) and (c). The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report commencing on page F-1.

(a)(3) and (b). Exhibits (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

Exhibit Reference
Number Description No.
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement. dated as of November 9. 2009. by and between Klee Pharmaceuticals. Inc., Defiante Farmacéutica. [C))]
S.A. and Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.. on the one hand. and Enzon Pharmaceuticals. Inc.. on the other hand
22 Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (adopted by the Board of Directors of Enzon an
Pharmaceuticals. Inc. on February 4.2016)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated May 18.2006. together with that Certificate of Amendment to the a
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated July 13.2010
32 Second Amended and Restated By-Laws effective March 11.2011. as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended an
and Restated By-Laws effective February 15.2013
33 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Enzon Pharmaceuticals. Inc. filed with the as
Secretary of'the State of Delaware on May 1.2014
10.1 2001 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended and restated. of Enzon Pharmaceuticals. Inc.** 2)
10.2 Development, License and Supply Agreement between Enzon, Inc. (now known as Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and Schering 3)
Corporation; dated November 14, 1990, as amended*
103 Amended and Restated 2013 Outside Director Compensation Plan** a2)
104 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Executive Officers under the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** ®)
105 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Executive Officers under the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** )
10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Executive Officers under the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** ©6)
10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Independent Directors under the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** “@
10.8 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for Independent Directors under the 1987 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan** “
109 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for Independent Directors under the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** “
10.10 Amendment to Outstanding Awards Under 2001 Incentive Stock Plan** ®)
10.11 2001 Incentive Stock Plan Non-Qualified Stock Plan Terms and Conditions** ®8)
10.12 2001 Incentive Stock Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Terms and Conditions** ®)
10.13 2001 Incentive Stock Plan Restricted Stock Award Terms and Conditions** ®8)
10.14 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan** a0)
10.15 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Company Employees under the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan** a0)
10.16 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive a0)
Plan**
10.17 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Company Employees under the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan** a0)
10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive a0)
Plan**
10.19 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan [VA)
10.20 Independent Contractor Agreement. dated as of December 13,2013, between Enzon Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Richard L. a4
Feinstein**
10.21 Assignment. Assumption and Release Agreement, dated as of September 11.2015. between Kingsbridge 2005, LLC and Enzon a6)
Pharmaceuticals. Inc.
10.22 Amendment 1 to Independent Contractor Agreement, effective as of December 28, 2015. between Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as8)

and Richard L. Feinstein**
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10.23 Agreement. dated as of December 29, 2015, among Kingsbridge 2005, LLC. Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Axcellerate
Pharma, LLC (executed by Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on February 4, 2016)
10.24 Letter Agreement, dated February 4.2016. between Kingsbridge 2005. LLC and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

10.25 Separation Agreement, dated as of September 27,2013, between Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Andrew Rackear**

10.26 Amendment to Separation Agreement, dated as of January 1,2016, between Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Andrew
Rackear**

10.27 Amendment 2 to Separation Agreement, dated as of March 31.2016. between Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Andrew
Rackear**

10.28 Amended and Restated Exclusive IP Marketing Agreement. dated as of June 28,2004, by and between Microment AG and
Enzon Pharmaceuticals. Inc.

10.29 Letter Agreement, dated January 30,2019, between Servier IP UK Limited and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant

23.1 Consent of EisnerAmper LLP
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Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ***
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002%***

The following materials from Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2018, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow, and
(v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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+ Filed herewith
* Portions of this exhibit have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission pursuant to a confidential treatment request.

** Management contracts or compensatory plans and arrangements required to be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(ii)(A) or (iii) of Regulation S-
K.

HHE These certifications are not deemed filed by the Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing the Company makes
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.

Referenced exhibit was previously filed with the Commission as an exhibit to the Company’s filing indicated below and is incorporated herein by reference
to that filing:

1) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,2010 filed August 9,2010

) Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 19,2006

3) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30,2002 filed on September 26,2002
“4) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,2005 filed November 9,2005
) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 filed February 9,2005
6) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 filed May 10, 2005

) Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-140282) filed January 29,2007

®) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2008 filed March 9,2009

) Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 12,2009

(10) Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-174099) filed May 10,2011
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an
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
a7
(18)
(19)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2012 filed March 18,2013
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,2013 filed August 6,2013

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,2013 filed November 12,2013
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2014 filed March 14,2014

Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1,2014

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 filed November 6,2015
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 9,2016

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2015 filed March 21,2016

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,2016 filed May 9,2016
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS., INC.
(Registrant)

Dated: February 21,2019 /s/ Andrew Rackear
Andrew Rackear
Chief Executive Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: February 21,2019 /s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein
Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Andrew Rackear Chief Executive Officer and Secretary February 21,2019
Andrew Rackear (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Richard L. Feinstein Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer February 21,2019
Richard L. Feinstein (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Jonathan Christodoro Chairman of the Board February 21,2019
Jonathan Christodoro
/s/ Odysseas Kostas Director February 21,2019
Odysseas Kostas
/s/ Jennifer McNealey Director February 21,2019
Jennifer McNealey
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,2018
and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
EISNERAMPER LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 21,2019
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2018 2017
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash $ 6,500 $ 7,478
Milestone receivable 7,000 -
Refundable tax credits receivable, current portion 970 -
Other current assets 70 94
Total current assets 14,540 7,572
Refundable tax credits receivable, net of current portion 970 1,940
Total assets $ 15,510 $ 9,512
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 439 § 225
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 78 143
Total current liabilities 517 368
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock - $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2018 and 2017 - -
Common stock - $0.01 par value, authorized 170,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 44,214,603 shares at
December 31,2018 and 2017 442 442
Additional paid-in capital 83,649 83,649
Accumulated deficit (69,098) (74,947)
Total stockholders’ equity 14,993 9,144
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 15510 $ 9,512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenues:
Royalties and milestones, net
Total revenues

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income and income before income tax expense

Income tax expense

Net income

Earnings per common share
Basic and diluted

Weighted average number of shares
Basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
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Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017
6918 $ 8,379
6,918 8,379
1,063 1,371
1,063 1,371
5,855 7,008
6 1,563
5849 $ 5,445
0.13 § 0.12
44215 44215




Balance, December 31,2016
Net income

Common stock dividend
Balance, December 31,2017
Net income

Balance, December 31,2018

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
Common Stock Additional
Number of Par Paid-in Accumulated
Shares Value Capital Deficit Total

44215 $ 442§ 90,281 $ (80,392) $ 10,331
- - - 5,445 5,445
- - (6,632) - (6,632)

44215 $ 442  $ 83,649 §$ (74,947) $ 9,144
- - - 5,849 5,849

44215  $ 442  § 83,649 §$ (69,098) $ 14,993

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-5




ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 5849 $ 5,445
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Deferred tax provision - 3,362
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in milestone receivable (7,000) -
Decrease in other current assets 24 176
Increase in refundable tax credit receivable - (1,940)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 214 (545)
Decrease in accrued expenses and other current liabilities (65) 27)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (978) 6,471
Cash flows from financing activities:
Common stock dividends - (6,632)
Net cash used in financing activities = (6,632)
Net decrease in cash (978) (161)
Cash at beginning of year 7,478 7,639
Cash at end of'year $ 6,500 $ 7,478
Supplemental cash flows disclosure:
Cash paid for income taxes $ - 3 =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1) Description of Business

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “Enzon,” “we” or “us”), manages its sources of royalty revenues from
existing licensing arrangements with other companies primarily related to sales of certain drug products that utilize our proprietary technology. In 2018, the
primary source of the Company’s royalties and milestones revenues was a milestone payment of $7.0 million due from Servier IP UK Limited (“Servier”). On
December 20, 2018, the Company was notified that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) approved Servier’s Biologics License Application
(“BLA”) for calaspargase pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™), also known as SC Oncaspar. Pursuant to an agreement originally entered into with
Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A. (“Sigma-Tau”) in November 2009, and ultimately assigned to Servier, the Company earned a milestone payment of $7.0
million. Accordingly, the Company recorded revenue and a milestone receivable of $7.0 million at December 31, 2018. In 2017, the primary source of the
Company’s milestone revenues was the revenues received from Nektar Therapeutics, Inc. (“Nektar”) pursuant to the Second Amendment (“Nektar Second
Amendment”) to the Company’s Cross-License and Option Agreement (the “Nektar License Agreement”), which generated non-recurring milestone revenues
of $7 million (see below). The receipt of this $7.0 million satisfied all future obligations of royalty payments to us pursuant to the Nektar License Agreement.

Prior to 2017, the primary source of our royalty revenues was derived from sales of PegIntron, which is marketed by Merck & Co., Inc. (“Merck”).
The Company currently has no clinical operations and limited corporate operations. The Company has no intention of resuming any clinical development
activities or acquiring new sources of royalty revenues. Royalty revenues from sales of PegIntron accounted for (2)% and 7% of the Company’s total revenues
for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively, net of the effects of Merck’s recoupment of previously overpaid royalties. The effects of such
recoupments were recorded as a decrease of revenues aggregating approximately $280,000 and $877,000 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, as discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2018, Merck notified the Company that a downward adjustment of approximately $313,000 in royalties was necessary, resulting primarily
from product returns relating to periods prior to December 31, 2017. Accordingly, at December 31, 2017, the Company accrued a liability to Merck of
approximately $313,000 and partially offset that amount by the $88,000 that was due to the Company from Merck. Thus, the Company recorded a net
payable to Merck of approximately $225,000 at December 31,2017. In January 2018, Merck paid the $88,000 to the Company, which increased the liability
to $313,000. During the second quarter of 2018, Enzon earned approximately $60,000 of royalties, which reduced the royalty payable to Merck to $253,000.
During the third quarter of 2018, Merck notified the Company of an additional recoupment of approximately $280,000, resulting primarily from product
rebates and returns. In the fourth quarter, Enzon earned approximately $94,000 of royalties. Accordingly, the liability to Merck was $439,000 at December
31,2018, as discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In April 2013, we announced that we intended to distribute excess cash, expected to arise from royalty and milestone revenues, in the form of

periodic dividends to stockholders. On February 4, 2016, our Board adopted a Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution (the “Plan of Liquidation and
Dissolution”), the implementation of which has been postponed. (See Note 14.)
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

On January 30, 2019, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Servier, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Les Laboratoires Servier, in
connection with the asset purchase agreement, dated as of November 9, 2009 (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”), by and between Klee Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Defiante Farmacéutica, S.A. (“Defiante”) and Sigma-Tau, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand. Under the letter agreement, Servier, as
successor-in-interest to Defiante, has confirmed its obligation to pay the Company a $7.0 million milestone payment related to SC Oncaspar as a result of the
FDA'’s December 20, 2018 approval of calaspargase pegol — mknl (brand name ASPARLAS™) as a component of a multi-agent chemotherapeutic regimen for
the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in pediatric and young adult patients age 1 month to 21 years. In addition, under the letter agreement, the
Company has agreed to waive Servier’s obligations to pursue the development of SC Oncaspar in Europe and the approval of SC Oncaspar by the European
Medicines Agency (“EMEA”) under the Asset Purchase Agreement, provided that the Company is not waiving Servier’s obligation to make any applicable
milestone payment to the Company upon EMEA approval, if any, of SC Oncaspar. Servier is required to pay the $7.0 million milestone payment to the
Company within three business days following the parties’ completion of procedures for claiming benefits under the double tax treaty between the United
States and the United Kingdom. The Company expects to receive the $7.0 million milestone payment from Servier by the third quarter of 2019. However, no
assurance can be given as to the timing of the Company’s receipt of the payment.

On June 26, 2017, the Company entered into the Nektar Second Amendment, wherein Nektar agreed to buy-out all remaining payment obligations
to the Company under the Nektar License Agreement. In consideration for fully paid-up licenses under the Nektar License Agreement and for the dismissal
with prejudice of all claims and counterclaims asserted in the litigation with Nektar, Nektar agreed to pay the Company the sum of $7 million, which satisfies
all future obligations of royalty payments pursuant to the Nektar License Agreement. The amount was paid in full during 2017. Accordingly, the Company
recorded revenue of $7 million in 2017.

The Company has a marketing agreement with Micromet AG (“Micromet”), now part of Amgen, Inc. (the “Micromet Marketing Agreement”), that
was entered into in 2004 under which Micromet is the exclusive marketer of the parties’ combined intellectual property portfolio in the field of single-chain
antibody technology. Under the Micromet Marketing Agreement, the parties agreed to share, on an equal basis, in any licensing fees, milestone payments
and royalties revenue received by Micromet in connection with any licenses of the patents within the portfolio by Micromet to any third party during the
term of the collaboration. To the Company’s knowledge, Micromet has a license agreement with Viventia Biotech (Barbados) Inc. (“Viventia”), now part of
Sesen Bio, Inc. (“Sesen”), that was entered into in 2005, under which Micromet granted Viventia nonexclusive rights, with certain sublicense rights, for
know-how and patents allowing exploitation of certain single chain antibody products, which patents cover some key aspects of Vicinium, one of Sesen’s
drug candidates that is in Phase 3 clinical trials being evaluated for the treatment of patients with non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. To the Company’s
knowledge, under the terms of this license agreement between Micromet and Viventia, Micromet is entitled to receive (i) certain milestone payments with
respect to the filing of a new drug application for Vicinium with the FDA or the filing of a marketing approval application for Vicinium with the EMEA; (ii)
certain milestone payments with respect to the first commercial sale of Vicinium in the U.S. or Europe and (iii) certain royalties on net sales for ten years from
the first commercial sale of Vicinium. Pursuant to the Micromet Marketing Agreement, the Company would be entitled to a 50% share of these milestone
payments and royalties received by Micromet. Due to the challenges associated with developing and obtaining approval for drug products, there is
substantial uncertainty whether any of these milestones will be achieved. The Company also has no control over the time, resources and effort that Sesen may
devote to its programs and limited access to information regarding or resulting from such programs. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company
will receive any of the milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing Agreement. The Company will not recognize revenue until all revenue
recognition requirements are met.

The Company maintains its principal executive offices at 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford, New Jersey, 07016 through a lease agreement for

space and services with Regus Management Group, LLC (“Regus”) and also has an office facility at 3556 Main Street, Manchester, VT, 05225 pursuant to an
office rental agreement with Equinox Junior, LLC (“Equinox”). See Note 13.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

?2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated as part of the consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include legal and
contractual contingencies and income taxes. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience, relevant current information and various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Financial Instruments and Fair Value

The carrying values of cash, milestone receivable, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets approximated their fair values at December 31, 2018 and 2017 due to their short-term nature. As of December 31,
2018, the Company held no cash equivalents or marketable securities.

Revenue Recognition

Royalty revenues from the Company’s agreements with third parties are recognized when the Company can reasonably determine the amounts
eamned. In most cases, this will be upon notification from the third-party licensee, which is typically during the quarter following the quarter in which the
sales occurred. The Company does not participate in the selling or marketing of products for which it receives royalties. No provision for uncollectible
accounts is established upon recognition of revenues.

Contingent payments due under the asset purchase agreement for the sale of the Company’s former specialty pharmaceutical business are recognized
as income when the milestone has been achieved and collection is assured. Such payments are non-refundable and no further effort is required on the part of
the Company or the other party to complete the earning process.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect of a change in tax rates or laws on deferred tax assets and liabilities is
recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date of the rate change. A valuation allowance is established to reduce the deferred tax
assets to the amounts that are more likely than not to be realized from operations.

Tax benefits of uncertain tax positions are recognized only if it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to sustain a position taken on

an income tax return. The Company has no liability for uncertain tax positions. Interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits, would be
recognized as income tax expense.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company recognizes the cost of all share-based payment transactions at fair value. Compensation cost, measured by the fair value of the equity
instruments issued, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized in the financial statements as the respective awards are earned.

The impact that share-based payment awards will have on the Company’s results of operations is a function of the number of shares awarded, the
trading price of the Company’s stock at date of grant or modification and vesting, including the likelihood of achieving performance goals. Furthermore, the
application of the Black-Scholes valuation model employs weighted average assumptions for expected volatility of the Company’s stock, expected term
until exercise of the options, the risk free interest rate, and dividends, if any, to determine fair value. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility ofthe
Company’s common stock; the expected term until exercise represents the weighted average period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding giving consideration to vesting schedules and the Company’s historical exercise patterns; and the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the option.

A3) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09 (Topic 606),
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” relating to revenue recognition. This new standard provides for a single five-step model to be applied to all
revenue contracts with customers as well as requires additional financial statement disclosures that will enable users to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows relating to customer contracts. Companies have an option to use either a retrospective approach or cumulative
effect adjustment approach to implement the standard. This ASU, as amended, was effective January 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 (Topic 842), “Leases,” which is intended to improve financial reporting around leasing
transactions. This ASU affects all companies and other organizations that engage in leasing transactions (both lessee and lessor) that lease assets such as real
estate and manufacturing equipment. This ASU will require organizations that lease assets — referred to as “leases” — to recognize on the balance sheet the
assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years
beginning January 1, 2019. On January 5, 2018, the FASB issued an exposure draft amending certain aspects of the new leasing standard. The proposed
amendments include a provision to allow entities to elect not to restate comparable periods in the period of adoption when transitioning to the new standard
and instead permit a modified retrospective approach. The Company believes that, inasmuch as its lease commitments are not material, the new standard will
not have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the SEC issued the final rule on Disclosures About Changes in Stockholders’ Equity For filings on Form 10-Q, which extends to
interim periods the annual requirement in SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 3-04,2 to disclose (1) changes in stockholders’ equity and (2) the amount of dividends
per share for each class of shares (as opposed to common stock only, as previously required). Pursuant to the final rule, registrants must now analyze changes
in stockholders’ equity, in the form of a reconciliation, for “the current and comparative year-to-date [interim] periods, with subtotals for each interim
period,” i.e., a reconciliation covering each period for which an income statement is presented. Rule 3-04 permits the disclosure of changes in stockholders’
equity (including dividend-per-share amounts) to be made either in a separate financial statement or in the notes to the financial statements. The final rule is
effective for all filings made on or after November 5, 2018. The staff of the SEC has indicated it would not object if the filer’s first presentation of the changes
in shareholders’ equity is included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter that begins after the effective date of the amendments. Therefore, the Company expects to
conform to this rule in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2019. Inasmuch as the Company has paid no dividends nor had any stock-related
transactions during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and its only change in stockholders’ equity during that period was its net income (loss), the
Company believes that the final rule will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

Other recent ASU's issued by the FASB and guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission did not, or are not believed by
management to, have a material effect on the Company’s present or future consolidated financial statements.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

“) Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

In March 2017, Merck notified the Company that it had overpaid it approximately $770,000 in royalties (net of a 25% royalty interest that the
Company had previously sold) during the second and third quarters of 2016. This was due to a previous misunderstanding regarding the date on which the
Company’s right to receive royalties from U. S. sales of PegIntron expired, which Merck advised had occurred in February 2016. Merck notified the Company
that it intended to recover such overpayment from the Company by reducing future royalties to which the Company would otherwise be entitled from Merck
until the full amount of the overpayment has been recouped. Accordingly, at December 31, 2016, the Company recorded a liability to Merck of
approximately $770,000.

In the second quarter of 2017, Merck notified the Company that they discovered additional overpayments to the Company resulting from their
inaccuracy as to the date on which the Company’s right to receive royalties from various countries’ sales of Peglntron expired. Such net overpayment to the
Company aggregated approximately $564,000 in royalties during 2015 and 2016. Merck notified the Company that it intended to recover such overpayment
from the Company by reducing future royalties to which the Company would otherwise be entitled from Merck until the full amount of the overpayment had
been recouped. In the third quarter of 2017, Merck again notified the Company that, based on rebates and returns of PegIntron products, they had deducted a
net amount of approximately $150,000 from aggregate royalties that were otherwise due to Enzon. The Company took exception to certain of the deductions
taken by Merck as being inappropriate. In the fourth quarter of 2017, Merck corrected such deductions and added a net $111,000, to the royalties that were
otherwise due to the Company. The aggregate amount of royalties earned from Merck during 2017 was approximately $1.3 million. In March 2018, Merck
notified the Company that an additional adjustment of approximately $313,000 was necessary, primarily, due to returns from sales in China in the fourth
quarter of 2017. Merck will recoup this through deductions from future royalties otherwise payable to the Company. Accordingly, the Company recorded an
aggregate reduction for overpayments, rebates and returns of approximately $1.6 million from the gross royalties eamed during 2016 and 2017, leaving a
balance due to Merck of approximately $225,000. This was recorded as a payable at December 31,2017.

In January 2018, Merck paid the $88,000 to the Company, which increased the liability to $313,000. During the second quarter of 2018, Enzon
earned approximately $60,000 of royalties, which reduced the royalty payable to Merck to $253,000. During the third quarter of 2018, Merck notified the
Company of an additional recoupment of approximately $280,000, resulting primarily from product rebates and returns. In the fourth quarter of 2018, Enzon
earned approximately $94,000 of royalties. Accordingly, the liability to Merck was $439,000 at December 31,2018.

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following as of December 31,2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
Professional and consulting fees $ 78 $ 142
Other - 1
$ 78 8 143




ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

) Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series of which 100,000 are designated as Series A in connection
with the Section 382 Rights Plan discussed below.

Common Stock
As of December 31, 2018, the Company reserved 9,818,392 shares of its common stock for the non-qualified and incentive stock plans.
Section 382 Rights Agreement

On April 30, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Section 382 Rights Plan and declared a dividend distribution of one right for each
outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on May 14,2014. Such rights lapsed, unexercised, at the
stated expiration date of April 30,2017 and have not been replaced.

) Cash Dividend

On August 10, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company’s common stock. This
special cash dividend, aggregating approximately $6.6 million, was paid on September 26,2017 to stockholders of record as of August 30,2017. See Notes 8
and 15.

(@) Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Restricted stock awards and restricted stock units (collectively, nonvested shares) are not considered to be outstanding shares until the
service or performance vesting period has been completed.

For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per common share, the denominator includes both the weighted-average number of shares of common
stock outstanding and the number of common stock equivalents if the inclusion of such common stock equivalents is dilutive. Dilutive common stock
equivalents potentially include stock options and nonvested shares using the treasury stock method and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase
plan (ESPP). During 2018 and 2017, there were no common stock equivalents. Earnings per common share information is as follows (in thousands, except per
share amounts) for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Earnings per Common Share — Basic and Diluted
Net income for year $ 5,849 § 5,445
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 44215 44,215
Basic and diluted eamings per share $ 0.13 § 0.12

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, options for 41,787 shares were outstanding that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-
average number of shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive, since the respective options’ strike price was greater than the market price of the
respective shares.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

®) Stock Options

Through the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company administers the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan,
which provides incentive and non-qualified stock option benefits for employees, officers, directors and independent contractors providing services to Enzon.
Options granted to employees generally vest over four years from date of grant and options granted to directors vest after one year. The exercise price of the
options granted must be at least 100 percent of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time the options are granted. Options may be exercised
for a period of up to ten years from the grant date. As of December 31, 2018, the 2011 plan authorized equity-based awards for 5 million common shares of
which about 4.6 million shares remain available for grant, however, there will be no further grants made pursuant to those plans.

In connection with the special cash dividend that was paid on September 26, 2017 to stockholders of record as of August 30,2017 (see Note 6), the
Compensation Committee of the Board approved equitable adjustments to the Company’s outstanding stock options and restricted stock units.

The following is a summary of the activity in the Company’s outstanding Stock Option Plans, which include the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan, the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan, and the 1987 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (options in thousands):

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Remaining Aggregate

Price Per Contractual Intrinsic

Options Option Term (years) Value (5000)

Outstanding at December 31,2018 and 2017 42 $ 3.11 223 % -
Vested and expected to vest at December 31,2018 and 2017 42 $ 3.11 223 § -
Exercisable at December 31,2018 and 2017 42 3 3.11 223 $ -

As of December 31, 2018, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options that the Company expects to recognize.

No options were granted during the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017.

In the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded no stock-based compensation related to stock options. The Company’s
policy is to use newly issued shares to satisfy the exercise of stock options.

The Company received no cash from exercises of stock options in either of the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017.
9 Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units (Nonvested Shares)

The 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and, prior to that, the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan provide for the issuance of restricted stock awards and
restricted stock units (collectively, nonvested shares) to employees, officers and directors. However, there will be no further grants made pursuant to those
plans and, as of December 31, 2018, there were no nonvested shares outstanding.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10) Income Taxes
The components of the income tax provision are summarized as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017
Current:
Federal $ - 3 (1,801)
State and foreign 6 2
Total current 6 (1,799)
Deferred:
Federal and state - 3362
Income tax provision $ 6 $ 1,563

The following table represents the reconciliation between the reported income taxes and the income taxes that would be computed by applying the
federal statutory rate (21% for year ended December 31,2018 and 35% for year ended December 31,2017) to income before taxes (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017

Income tax provision at federal statutory rate $ 1,229 $ 2,453
Add (deduct) effect of:

State income taxes, net of federal tax 505 970

Refundable AMT credit - (1,801)

Effect of tax rate change as a result 0o£f 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act - 16,869

Expiration of federal research and development credits 356 -

Expiration of capital loss carryforwards 248 -

Change in valuation allowance (2,332) (14,549)

Recognition of windfall NOLs - (2,379)

Income tax provision $ 6 $ 1,563

No federal income tax expense was incurred in relation to normal operating results due to the utilization of deferred tax assets and related changes in
valuation allowance.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the cumulative tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets are as follows (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
Deferred tax assets:
Federal and state net operating loss carryforward $ 22,755 °$ 24,399
Research and development credits carryforward 16,252 16,608
Capital loss carryforwards - 332
Total gross deferred tax assets 39,007 41,339
Less valuation allowance (39,007) (41,339)
Net deferred tax assets $ - $ -
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was signed into law. Among its numerous changes to the Internal Revenue Code, the
Act reduced the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. For the year ended December 31, 2017, this resulted in a $15.9 million reduction for the
deferred tax assets related to net operating losses and other assets. Such reduction was offset by a corresponding reduction to the Company’s valuation
allowance.

In addition, the Act repealed the corporate alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) for years beginning after December 31, 2017 and allowed companies
with existing alternative minimum tax credit (“MTC”) carryforwards as of December 31, 2017 to receive refunds of the credits in tax years after 2017 and
before 2022 in an amount equal to 50% (100% in 2021) of the excess MTC over the amount of the credit allowable each year against regular tax liability.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had $1.94 million in minimum tax credits and recorded a long term receivable for the future expected
refunds of the credits. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has reclassified $970,000 as a short term receivable, leaving a balance of $970,000 as a long
term receivable based on the expected timing of the refunds of the minimum tax credits.

The Company completed the accounting for the tax impact of the Act as of December 31,2017 and recorded no provisional amounts.

ASC 740 requires the reduction of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than
not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. For the period ended December 31, 2017, the Company believed that it was more likely
than not that future taxable income would not exist to utilize some or all of their deferred tax assets. Accordingly, it recorded a valuation allowance in the
amount of its total deferred tax assets for the period ended December 31,2017. In 2018, the Company generated $5.8 million of taxable income, offset by the
utilization of net operating loss carryforwards. The deferred tax expense associated with the net operating loss utilization was offset in full by the tax benefit
resulting from the reduction in the associated valuation allowance. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its remaining deferred tax
assets as of December 31,2018, as it believes it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized.

At December 31, 2018, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $100.6 million that expire in the years 2025
through 2036, and New Jersey state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.9 million that expire in the years 2030 through 2038. Under the
Act, net operating losses generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 have an unlimited carryforward period, and the amount of net operating
loss allowed to be utilized each year is limited to 80% of taxable income. The Company does not have federal net operating loss carryforwards generated in
years beginning after December 31,2016.

The Company had federal and state capital loss carryforwards of approximately $1.2 million that expired in 2018. The Company also had federal
research and development (“R&D”) credit carryforwards of approximately $400,000 that expired in 2018. The Company has remaining R&D credit
carryforwards of approximately $16.2 million that expire in the years 2019 through 2029. These deferred tax assets had been subject to a valuation allowance
such that the deferred tax expense incurred as a result of the expiration of the capital loss and R&D credit carryforwards was offset in full by a corresponding
deferred tax benefit for the related reduction in valuation allowance.

The Company’s ability to use the net operating loss and R&D tax credit carryforwards may be limited, as it is subject to certain limitations due to
ownership changes as defined by rules pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

The Company has not recorded a liability for unrecognized income tax benefits.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11 Significant Agreements
Merck Agreement

As a result of a November 1990 agreement, the Company’s PEGylation technology was used to develop an improved version of the product
INTRON A, Peglntron. Merck is responsible for marketing and manufacturing PegIntron on an exclusive worldwide basis and the Company receives royalties
on worldwide sales of PegIntron for all indications. The Company has no involvement in the selling or marketing of Peglntron. Merck’s obligation to pay the
Company royalties on sales of Peglntron terminates, on a country-by-country basis, upon the later of the date on which the last patent to contain a claim
covering Peglntron expires in the country or 15 years after the first commercial sale of Peglntron in such country. The expiration occurred in 2016 in the U.S,,
and expirations occurred in 2018 in Europe and will expire in Malaysia in 2020, Japan in 2021 and Chile in 2024. The royalty percentage to which the
Company is entitled will be lower in any country where a PEGylated alpha-interferon product is being marketed by a third party in competition with
PegIntron where such third party is not Hoffmann-La Roche. Either party may terminate the agreement upon a material breach of the agreement by the other
party that is not cured within 60 days of written notice from the non-breaching party or upon declaration of bankruptcy by the other party. During the quarter
ended September 30, 2007, the Company sold a 25 -percent interest in future royalties payable to it by Merck on net sales of Peglntron occurring after June
30,2007. See Note 1 regarding Merck royalty revenues.

Servier Agreement
See Note 1 regarding the Servier milestone obligation to the Company.
Nektar Agreement

See Note 1 regarding the Nektar Second Amendment, wherein Nektar agreed to buy-out all remaining payment obligations to the Company under
the Nektar License Agreement.

12) Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Company has been involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the
ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

a3) Leases
Principal Executive Offices and Office Service Agreements

Commencing on March 1, 2016, the Company changed the location of its principal executive offices to 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford,
New Jersey, 07016. The Company entered into an office service agreement with Regus for use of office space at this location effective March 1,2016. Under
the agreement, in exchange for the Company’s right to use the office space at this location, the Company was required to pay Regus an initial service retainer
0f'$2,418 and thereafter pay Regus a monthly fee of $1,209 until February 28,2017. This agreement was renewed for two one-year extensions, until February
28,2019, for a monthly fee of $1,259. In June 2018, the Company and Regus agreed to end the lease on August 31, 2018, and replace it with an updated
office service agreement. The Company entered into an office service agreement with Regus for mailbox plus, telephone answering, and virtual office
services effective September 1, 2018. Under the agreement, in exchange for the services provided by Regus, the Company was required to pay Regus an
initial service retainer of $259 and thereafter pay Regus a monthly fee of $259 until August 31,2019.

Effective July 1, 2018, the Company entered into an office rental agreement with Equinox for use of office space at 3556 Main Street, Manchester,

VT, 05225. Under this agreement, in exchange for the Company’s right to use the office space at this location, the Company is required to pay Equinox a
monthly fee of $708 until June 30,2019.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(14) Other Corporate Events

On February 4, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, pursuant to which the Company would,
subject to obtaining requisite stockholder approval, be liquidated and dissolved in accordance with Sections 280 and 281(a) of the General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware. In approving the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution, the Company’s Board of Directors had considered, among other factors, the
ability of the Company to obtain no-action relief from the SEC to suspend certain of the Company’s reporting obligations under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and the anticipated cost savings if such relief is granted by the SEC. After further consideration, the Company’s Board of Directors
determined that it would be fair, advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to postpone seeking stockholder approval of the Plan
of Liquidation and Dissolution until a later time to be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors.

From time to time, the Company’s Board of Directors reviews the Company’s status and prospects in deciding on the timing of dissolution and
liquidation of the Company pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution. If the Company’s Board of Directors determines to seek stockholder
approval of such plan and such plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders and implemented by the Company, it is expected that the Company’s
corporate existence will continue for the purpose of winding up its business and affairs for at least three years. The Company has forecasted minimal or no
royalty or milestone revenues for the foreseeable future. In light of the uncertainty as to whether any of the milestones under the Micromet Marketing
Agreement would be achieved, this forecast assumes that the Company would not receive any milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Marketing
Agreement.

On April 30, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Section 382 rights plan and declared a dividend distribution of one right for each
outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on May 14, 2014. The Section 382 Rights Agreement
expired by its terms on April 30,2017 and has not been replaced.
as) Subsequent Event

On January 30, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $0.06 per share of the Company’s common stock. This
special cash dividend, aggregating approximately $2.7 million, will be paid on March 21,2019 to stockholders of record as of February 21,2019.

F-17

&nbsp;



Exhibit 10.28
Amended and Restated Exclusive IP Marketing Agreement

THis AMENDED AND RESTATED ExcLUSIVE IP MARKETING AGREEMENT(“Agreement”) IS MADE AND ENTERED INTO As OF JUNE 28, 2004 (THE Amendment
Date”) AND IS HEREBY MADE EFFECTIVE AS OF APRIL 9, 2002 (tHE‘Effective Date”), BY AND BETWEEN MICROMET AG, HAVING ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICES AT STAFFELSEESTRAS
2, 81477 MunicH, GERMANY (“Micromet”), AND ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., HAVING ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICES AT 685 RouTE 202/206, BRIDGEWATER,EN Jersey
08807, USA (“Enzon”). Micromet and Enzon each may be referred to herein individually as a “Party,” or collectively as the “Parties.”

Whereas, THE PARTIES HAVE ENTERED INTO THAT CERTAIN EXCLUSIVE IP MARKETING AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE QEiginal Marketing
Agreement”), PURSUANT TO WHICH THE PARTIES HAVE ENTERED AN ARRANGEMENT WHEREBY MICROMET HAD THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO MARKET CERTAIN PATENTS ON BE
both Parties under the terms and conditions therein set forth;

Whereas, THE PARTIES DESIRE TO AMEND AND RESTATE THE ORIGINAL MARKETING AGREEMENT TO REFLECT CERTAIN AMENDMENTS AGREED UPON IN CONNECTIO
THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THAT CERTAIN AMENDED AND RESTATED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICROMET AND ENZON DATED AS OF THE EFFECTIV
(the “Collaboration Agreement”) AND THAT CERTAIN AMENDED AND RESTATED CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICROMET AND ENZON DATED As OF THE EFFEC
Date (the “Cross-License Agreement”);

Now, therefore, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE FOREGOING PREMISES AND THE MUTUAL PROMISES AND COVENANTS CONTAINED HEREIN AND OTHER GOOD AND VALU/
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions

WHEN USED IN THIS AGREEMENT, CAPITALIZED TERMS WILL HAVE THE MEANINGS AS DEFINED BELOW AND THROUGHOUT THE AGREEMENT. UNLESS THE CON
indicates otherwise, the singular will include the plural and the plural will include the singular.

1.1 “Actual Expenses” has the meaning assigned to it in section 3.2.2.

1.2 “Affiliate” MEANS A LEGAL ENTITY THAT, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, THROUGH ONE OR MORE INTERMEDIARIES, CONTROLS, IS CONTROLLED BY, OR |
COMMON CONTROL WITH A PARTY. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS DEFINITION ONLY, “CONTROL” AND, WITH CORRELATIVE MEANINGS, THE TERMS “CONTROLLED BY”’ AND “UNDER C(
CONTROL WITH” MEANS (A) THE POSSESSION, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, OF THE POWER TO DIRECT THE MANAGEMENT OR POLICIES OF A LEGAL ENTITY, WHETHER THRO
OWNERSHIP OF VOTING SECURITIES OR BY CONTRACT RELATING TO VOTING RIGHTS OR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, OR (B) THE OWNERSHIP, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, OF MORE T
OF THE VOTING SECURITIES OR OTHER OWNERSHIP INTEREST OF A LEGAL ENTITY; PROVIDED THAT, IF LOCAL LAW RESTRICTS FOREIGN OWNERSHIP, CONTROL WILL BE ESTAE
DIRECT OR INDIRECT OWNERSHIP OF THE MAXIMUM OWNERSHIP PERCENTAGE THAT MAY, UNDER SUCH LOCAL LAW, BE OWNED BY FOREIGN INTEREST€urrent Affiliate” means
an Affiliate as of the Effective Date.




1.3 “Antigen” means any structure with binding affinity to antibody variable domains.

1.4 “BiTE Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH DEFINITION IS HEREBY INCORPORATED IN THIS AGREEME}
by reference.

1.1 “BiTE Research Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TOIT IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH DEFINITION IS HEREBY INCORPORATED IN THI
Agreement by reference.

1.5 “Collaboration Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals to this Agreement.
1.6 “Consolidated Patent License” has the meaning assigned to it in section 2.1.
1.7 “Consolidated Patent Portfolio” MEANS THE COMBINED INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PORTFOLIO CONSISTING OF THE ENZON LICENSED PATENTS AND

Micromet Licensed Patents.
1.8 “Enzon License” means the license granted by Enzon to Micromet pursuant to section 2.2.1 of the Cross License Agreement,

1.9 “Enzon Licensed Patents” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN SECTIONl OF THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT (WHICH DEFINITION AND TH
DEFINITIONS OF THE TERMS USED THEREIN ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE), BUT WILL EXCLUDE FOR PURPOSES OF THIS AGREEMENT ANY SUCH PATENTS CL.
inventions primarily directed to Pegylation.

1.10 “Enzon Pipeline Product” MEANS ANY LICENSED PropuCT, OTHER THAN A BITE Propuct or BITE REesearcH ProbucT, As TO wHICH () Ex
OBTAINS OR RETAINS COMMERCIALIZATION RIGHTS (WHETHER EXCLUSIVE OR CO-EXCLUSIVE) IN ONE OR MORE MAJOR MARKET COUNTRIES, OR (B) ENZON OR ANY OF 1T C
AFFILIATES HAS FILED OR WILL FILE AN IND IN 1TS OWN NAME. As USED HEREIXMajor Market Country” MEaNs THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ENGLAND, FRANC
Germany, Italy, Spain, and Japan.

1.11 “Enzon Targets” MEANS ANTIGENS THAT ARE THE (1) SUBJECT OF TARGET/ANTIBODY RESEARCH BY ENZON OR ITS AFFILIATES, (II) SUBJECT OF FUR
DILIGENTLY CONDUCTED ON-GOING RESEARCH BY ENZON OR ITS AFFILIATES, OR (IlI) TARGET OF OR BINDING SITE FOR AN ENZON PIPELINE PRODUCT THAT IS IN COMME
development, clinical trials, or being marketed by Enzon, its Affiliates, or their licensees or marketing partners.

1.12 “Existing License Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in section 2.7.
1.13 “Exploit” or “Exploitation” MEANS TO MAKE, HAVE MADE, IMPORT, USE, SELL, OFFER FOR SALE, OR OTHERWISE DISPOSE OF A PRODUCT, INCLUDING
DISCOVERY, RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT, REGISTRATION, MODIFICATION, ENHANCEMENT, IMPROVEMENT, MANUFACTURE, STORAGE, FORMULATION, EXPORTATION, TRANSPORTA

distribution, promotion and marketing activities related thereto.

1.14 “FTE” MEANS THE EQUIVALENT OF A TOTAL OF 1600 HOURS PER YEAR OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND RELATED ADMINISTRATIVE WORK AND TRAVEL D
related to the sourcing and negotiation of Third Party License Agreements carried out by a qualified Micromet employee or consultant.




1.15 “FTE Cost” MmeEans US$275,000 per FTE PER ANNUM, AS ADJUSTED ON THE FIRST DAY OF EACH CALENDAR YEAR BASED ON: (A) ANY INCREASE IN
GERMAN CONSUMER PRICE INDEX THAT HAS OCCURRED IN THE PRECEDING CALENDAR YEAR, AND (B) ANY CHANGE IN THE CONVERSION RATE BETWEEN THE EURO AND THE US
in the preceding calendar year.

1.16 “Licensed Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN SECTION 1 OF THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT (WHICH DEFINITION AND THE DEFINITIONS
the terms used therein are hereby incorporated herein by reference).

1.17 “Licensing Revenue” MEANS THE LICENSE FEES, MILESTONE PAYMENTS AND ROYALTIES RECEIVED BY MICROMET IN CONNECTION WITH THIRD PAR
License Agreements.

1.18 “Micromet Licensed Patents” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN SECTION 1 OF THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT (WHICH DEFINITION AND TI
definitions of the terms used therein are hereby incorporated herein by reference).

1.19 “Micromet Pipeline Product” MEANS ANY LICENSED PRODUCT As TO WHICH (A) MICROMET OBTAINS OR RETAINS COMMERCIALIZATION RIGHTS (WHET
EXCLUSIVE OR CO-EXCLUSIVE) IN ONE OR MORE MAJOR MARKET COUNTRIES, OR (B) MICROMET OR ITS CURRENT AFFILIATES HAS FILED OR WILL FNB RNITS OWN NAME. As
used herein, “Major Market Country” means the United States of America, England, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and Japan.

1.20 “Non-Human SCA Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH DEFINITION IS HEREBY INCORPORATED 1
this Agreement by reference.

1.21 “Patents” MEANS (A) ALL PATENTS AND PATENT APPLICATIONS IN ANY COUNTRY OR SUPRANATIONAL JURISDICTION, AND (B) ANY SUBSTITUTIONS, DIVISI
CONTINUATIONS, CONTINUATIONS-IN-PART, REISSUES, RENEWALS, REGISTRATIONS, CONFIRMATIONS, RE-EXAMINATIONS, EXTENSIONS, SUPPLEMENTARY PROTECTION CERTIFICATES
the like, and any provisional applications, of any such patents or patent applications.

1.22 “Pegylation,” WITH A CORRELATIVE MEANING FOR “PEGYLATED,” MEANS THE CONJUGATION (COVALENT CHEMICAL BONDING) OF PEG (INCLUDING BUT
LIMITED TO CONJUGATION THROUGH LINKING GROUPS) WITH OR TO OTHER MATERIALS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO SINGLE CHAIN ANTIBODIES. “PEGYLATION” WILL INi
THE SYNTHESIS, DERIVATIZATION, CHARACTERIZATION, AND MODIFICATION OF PEG FOR SUCH PURPOSES, TOGETHER WITH THE SYNTHESIS, DERIVATIZATION, CHARACTERIZATIO
MODIFICATION OF THE RAW MATERIALS AND INTERMEDIATES FOR THE MANUFACTURE OF PEG REAGENTS OR PRODUCTS INCORPORATING SUCH PEG REAGENTS BY ME.
CONJUGATION, AND ALL METHODS OF MAKING AND USING EACH AND ALL OF THE FOREGOING. FOR CLARITY, PEGYLATION WILL NOT INCLUDE THE ATTACHMENT OF PEG w1
OTHER MATERIALS BY MEANS OTHER THAN CONJUGATION. AS USED IN THIS DEFINITIONPEG” MEANS POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL AND DERIVATIVES THEREOF, INCLUDING METHOX
polyethylene glycol.

1.23 “Research Collaboration” MEANS THE RESEARCH COLLABORATION BETWEEN ENZON AND MICROMET CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THE COLLABOF
Agreement.




1.24 “Research Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH DEFINITION IS HEREBY INCORPORATED IN TH
Agreement by reference.

1.25 “SCA Product” HAS THE MEANING ASSIGNED TO IT IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH DEFINITION IS HEREBY INCORPORATED IN THIS AGREEME}
by reference.

1.26 “Single Chain Antibody” MEANS A SINGLE CHAIN POLYPEPTIDE HAVING BINDING AFFINITY FOR AN ANTIGEN AND A DEFINED AMINO ACID SEQUENCE
WHEREBY SUCH POLYPEPTIDE COMPRISES (1) A FIRST POLYPEPTIDE SEGMENT HAVING A LIGHT CHAIN VARIABLE REGION, (II) A SECOND POLYPEPTIDE HAVING A HEAVY CHAIN
variable region, and (iii) at least one peptide linker linking the first and second polypeptides into a single chain polypeptide.

1 .27 “Target/Antibody Research” MEANS DILIGENTLY CONDUCTED, ON-GOING RESEARCH ACTIVITIES DIRECTED TOWARDS THE IDENTIFICATION
OPTIMIZATION OF ANTIGENS OR SINGLE CHAIN ANTIBODIES BINDING TO SUCH ANTIGENS FOR WHICH A PARTY IS EXPENDING ITS OWN FUNDS IN CONDUCTING SUCH RESEARC
ACTIVITIES, WHICH FUNDS HAVE NOT BEEN RECEIVED DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY FROM A THIRD PARTY BIOTECHNOLOGY OR PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY TO FUND OR OTHI
sponsor such research.

1.28 “Third Party” means any party other than Micromet, Enzon or their respective Affiliates.

1.29 “Third Party License Agreement” MEANS ANY AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICROMET AND A THIRD PARTY OTHER THAN AN EXISTING LICENSE AGREEM
that includes a license or sublicense under the Patents within the Consolidated Patent Portfolio.

1.30 “Third Party SCA Product” MEaNs ANY SCA Probuct or NoN-HuMAN SCA PRODUCT THAT 1S NOT A MICROMET PIPELINE ProDUCT OR EN:
Pipeline Product.

2. Marketing Of The Consolidated Patent Portfolio

2.1 Grant of Right to Sublicense. DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT AND SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS IN THIS SECTION 2, ENZON HEREBY GRANT
MICROMET THE EXCLUSIVE, WORLDWIDE RIGHT AND LICENSE UNDER THE ENZON LICENSED PATENTS TO GRANT NONEXCLUSIVE SUBLICENSES UNDER THE ENzON Licen
Exploit Third Party SCA Products and Research Products (each such sublicense and license, a “Consolidated Patent License”).

2.2 Antigen-Specific License Grants. MiCROMET WILL GRANT CONSOLIDATED PATENT LiCENSES FOR SCA PRODUCTS ONLY ON AN INDIVIDUAL ANTIGEN
ANTIGEN BASIS, WITH EACH SUCH LICENSE SPECIFYING BY RECOGNIZED NAME OR OTHER UNIQUE IDENTIFICATION THE SINGLE ANTIGEN THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF SUCH LICENSE. |
CLARIFICATION, THE PRECEDING SENTENCE PROHIBITS THE GRANT OF CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSES FOR MORE THAN ONE ANTIGEN IN A SINGLE CONSOLIDATED PATENT L
and prohibits the grant of such license for a genus of Antigens.

23 Adverse Parties in Litigation.

2.3.1 As orF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, ENZON WILL PROVIDE MICROMET WITH A COMPLETE LIST OF ALL ACTIONS FOR INFRINGEMENT OF A PATENT OWDM
licensed by Enzon or Enzon’s Affiliates, and any action against Enzon or Enzon’s Affiliates for infringement of a patent owned or licensed by a Third Party or
sucH THIRD PARTY’s AFFILIATEE“Pending Litigation”). THEREAFTER, DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT, ENZON WILL UPDATE SUCH LIST PROMPTLY AFTER THE INITI
of any new actions, and the settlement or other final disposition of any Pending Litigation, and will provide such updated list to Micromet.




232 MICROMET WILL NOT GRANT A CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSE TO ANY THIRD PARTY OR AN AFFILIATE OF ANY THIRD PARTY OF WHICH MICROM
informed that such party is a party to a Pending Litigation except as provided for in section 2.10.

24 Enzon Targets. MICROMET WILL NOT GRANT ANY CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSES WITH RESPECT TO ANTIGENS THAT ARE ENZON TARGETS. A LIST
ENzON TARGETS 1S ANNEXED AsAppendix A HERETO. ENZON MAY INFORM MICROMET IN WRITING OF ANY ADDITIONAL ANTIGENS THAT QUALIFY AS ENZON TARGETS AFTE
EFFECTIVE DATE. IN ADDITION, ENZON WILL PROMPTLY INFORM MICROMET IF AND WHEN AN ANTIGEN LISTED Appendix A NO LONGER QUALIFIES AS AN ENzoN TaRraGi
Appendix A WILL BE DEEMED AMENDED UPON RECEIPT BY MICROMET OF SUCH WRITTEN NOTICES. ENZON WILL PROVIDE MICROMET UPON REQUEST WITH A WRIT®
CERTIFICATION SUBSCRIBED BY AN OFFICER OF THE COMPANY THAT ANY PARTICULAR ENZON TARGET LISTEDApPpendix A CONTINUES TO QUALIFY AS AN EnzoN Taral
provided that Micromet will not make more than one such request in any six-month period.

2.5 Marketing Plan and Budget WiTHIN 30 DAYS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE FOR THE REMAINDER OF 2002, AND NOT LESS THAN 30 DAYS PRIOR TO THE E
THIS AND ANY SUBSEQUENT CALENDAR YEAR DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT, MICROMET AND ENZON WILL MEET AND AGREE ON A PLAN FOR MARKETING ACTIVITIE
PERFORMED BY MICROMET FOR THE REMAINDER OF 2002, AND THE FOLLOWING CALENDAR YEARS, RESPECTIVELY ‘tMiarketing Plan”). EAcH MARKETING PLAN WILL INCLU:
A REASONABLY DETAILED BUDGET OF THE FTE LEVELS AND THE OUT-OF-POCKET COSTS AND EXPENSES EXPECTED TO BE INCURRED BY MICROMET IN CONNECTION WIT
performance of the Marketing Plan (“Marketing Budget”).

2.6 Marketing Diligence. MICROMET WILL USE COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE EFFORTS TO EXECUTE THE MARKETING PLAN FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR IN QI
including without limitation, (i) diligently responding to inquiries of Third Parties interested in obtaining a Consolidated PATENT LICENSE AND ENGAGING IN TH
PROCESS OF DISCUSSING AND NEGOTIATING THE POTENTIAL TERMS, TERM SHEETS, AND IF APPROPRIATE, LICENSE AGREEMENTS WITH SUCH THIRD PARTIES; AND (1I) KEEPING EN
INFORMED ON A REGULAR BASIS ON THE STATUS OF ANY ONGOING DISCUSSIONS OR NEGOTIATIONS. EACH THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT MAY INCLUDE, AS NEGOTIATED
AGREED TO BETWEEN MICROMET AND THE THIRD PARTY, A LICENSE UNDER (I) A SINGLE PATENT IN THE CONSOLIDATED PATENT PORTFOLIO, (II) ANY GROUP OR COMBINAT
PATENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED PATENT PORTFOLIO, OR (i1I) THE ENTIRE CONSOLIDATED PATENT PORTFOLIO. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MARKETING PLAN, IF AT ANY TIME DU
NEGOTIATION PROCESS MICROMET DETERMINES IN ITS REASONABLE BUSINESS JUDGMENT THAT IT DOES NOT WISH TO PROCEED WITH THE NEGOTIATION AND EXECUTION OF
THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT, MICROMET WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE SUCH DISCUSSION OR NEGOTIATION AND NOT EXECUTE SUCH THIRD ParTy LI
Agreement.




2.7 Existing License Agreements. THE LICENSE AGREEMENTS BETWEEN ONE OF THE PARTIES AND THIRD PARTIES LisTEDAppendix B (“Existing
License Agreements”) THAT ARE IN EFFECT AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE WILL NOT BE INCLUDED AS THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENTS UNDER THIS AGREEMEN1
RENEGOTIATION OF AN EXISTING LICENSE AGREEMENT AND ANY PARTIAL OR COMPLETE AMENDMENT OF AN EXISTING LICENSE AGREEMENT WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF
PARTY WHO IS THE ORIGINAL LICENSOR UNDER SUCH AGREEMENT. FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, MICROMET WILL BE FREE TO NEGOTIATE AND EXECUTE LICENSE AGREEMEN
RESPECT TO MICROMET LICENSED PATENTS WITH THIRD PARTIES WHO ARE LICENSEES OF ENZON UNDER EXISTING LICENSE AGREEMENTS. IN NO EVENT WILL THE GRANT (
SUBLICENSE UNDER THE ENZON LICENSE TO A THIRD PARTY BY MICROMET RELIEVE SUCH THIRD PARTY FROM ANY OBLIGATIONS UNDER AN EXISTING LICENSE AGREEMENT
Enzon or supercede any such agreement, and Micromet will not enter into any agreement with a Third Party that does or purports to do so.

2.8 Minimum Financial Terms.

2.8.1 MICROMET WILL GRANT CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSES ONLY IN CONSIDERATION OF LICENSING REVENUES THAT ARE PAID IN CASH OR C
EQUIVALENTS. MICROMET WILL NOT GRANT A CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSE IN CONNECTION WITH OR IN CONTEMPLATION OF ANY TRANSACTION OR RELATIONSHIP WITH .
PARTY THAT RESULTS IN CONSIDERATION, REMUNERATION, OR OTHER BENEFIT TO MICROMET OTHER THAN CASH OR CASH-EQUIVALENT LICENSING REVENUE THAT IS SU!
division with Enzon.

2.8.2  FOR PURPOSES OF THIS SECTION 2.8, EQUITY SECURITIES WILL BE DEEMED A CASH- EQUIVALENT CONSIDERATION IF MICROMET HAS THE ABILIT®
TRANSFER TO ENZON, AND DOES IN FACT TRANSFER TO ENZON, 50% OF SUCH SECURITIES ALONG WITH ANY REGISTRATION AND STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS RELATED THERETO, PRC
NOTWITHSTANDING THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3 CONCERNING THE TIMING OF PAYMENTS FROM MICROMET TO ENZON, ANY SUCH TRANSFER WILL TAKE PLACE IMMEDIATELY U
Micromet’s receipt of such securities.

2.9 Comfort Letter. WITHIN 7 BUSINESS DAYS OF RECEIPT OF A WRITTEN REQUEST FROM MICROMET, WHICH WILL INCLUDE A DRAFT OF A PROPOSED THIRD I
LICENSE AGREEMENT, EITHER IN EXECUTABLE FORM OR IN A FORM WHICH WILL BE MATERIALLY AND SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE EXECUTED THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREI
ENZON WILL PROVIDE MICROMET WITH A WRITTEN CONFIRMATION THAT SUCH DRAFT THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT COMPLIES WITH THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT IF I
COMPLY WITH THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE REQUIREMENTS AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS SECTION 2. IF WITHIN SUCH 7-DAY PERIOD, ENz
DOES NOT RESPOND, ENZON WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO THE PROPOSED THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT. WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE DATE OF EXECUTION ¢
Third Party License Agreement, Micromet will deliver to Enzon a copy of such executed agreement.

2.10 Resolution of Third Party Claims. IF ENZON OR ITS AFFILIATES ARE SUED FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT OR THREATENED WITH SUIT BY A THIRD PArTY, E
MAY REQUEST MICROMET TO ASSIST ENZON IN SETTLING SUCH LAWSUIT BY GRANTING SAID THIRD PARTY A CONSOLIDATED PATENT LICENSE. IF THE THIRD PARTY AGREES 1
THE SUIT IN EXCHANGE FOR SUCH LICENSE, THEN MICROMET WILL GRANT SUCH LICENSE PROVIDED THAT (1) MICROMET WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO RETAIN 100% oF THE Lic
REVENUE, AND (1) MICROMET MAY INSTEAD OF GRANTING SUCH LICENSE MAKE OTHER ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE THIRD PARTY TO SETTLE SUCH SUIT (EXCEPT THAT N
arrangements will require any payments or other consideration by Enzon without Enzon’s prior written consent).




3. Financial Terms
31 Sharing of Net Revenues.

3.1.1  Each Party will be entitled to an equal 50% share of all Licensing Revenue. The Parties agree that any Licensing Revenue received
BY MICROMET DURING THE TERM OF THE COLLABORATION (AS DEFINED IN THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT) WILL BE HELD BY MICROMET IN SEPARATE ACCOUNTS FOR PURPC
FUNDING THE COLLABORATION. UPON TERMINATION OF THE COLLABORATION PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, OR AT SUCH OTHER TIME Af
MUTUALLY AGREED BY THE PARTIES, MICROMET WILL PAY TO ENZOW.L REMAINING LICENSING REVENUEHELD BY MICROMET IN THE ACCOUNT CONTAINING ENZON’S SHARE ¢
Licensing Revenue.

3.1.2 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE CONCLUSION OF EACH CALENDAR QUARTER DURING WHICH MICROMET RECEIVED ANY LICENSING REVENUES, MIicrRO
will provide to Enzon a written report showing the amounts received from Third Parties and a copy of any reports and other documentation submitted by such
Third Parties in connection with the payment made to Micromet.

313 IF MICROMET IS REQUIRED, PURSUANT TO THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENTS, TO CREDIT BACK TO THIRD PARTIES ANY LICENSING REVENUES
RESULT OF ADJUSTMENT MECHANISMS CONTAINED IN SUCH THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT®,g., AUDIT PROVISIONS, MICROMET WILL BE ENTITLED TO CREDIT THE AMOUNT
THE OVERPAYMENT BY SUCH THIRD PARTY AGAINST FUTURE LICENSING REVENUES COLLECTED FROM SUCH THIRD PARTY PURSUANT TO THE APPLICABLE THIRD PArTY L
AGREEMENT; provided, THAT IF THE ADJUSTMENT MECHANISM OF A THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT OBLIGATES MICROMET TO CREDIT BACK LICENSING REVENUES IN
FORM OF CASH PAYMENTS, MICROMET MAY MAKE ANY REPAYMENTS DUE FROM MICROMET TO THE THIRD PARTY FROM THE LICENSING REVENUES HELD IN SEPARATE ACCOU!
pursuant to section 3.1.1 above; and provided, further, THAT IF THE AMOUNT HELD IN SUCH SEPARATE ACCOUNTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 3.1.1 IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO COVE
AMOUNT DUE TO THE THIRD PARTY, ENZON WILL PAY MICROMET 50% OF ANY AMOUNTS PAID BY MICROMET TO THE THIRD PARTY THAT EXCEED THE AMOUNT HELD I
SEPARATE ACCOUNTS, SUCH PAYMENT TO MICROMET TO BE MADE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF MICROMET’S PAYMENT TO SUCH THIRD PARTY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE PRECED
SENTENCES OF THIS SECTION, MICROMET WILL USE ITS COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE EFFORTS IN NEGOTIATING SUCH THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE THAT AN'
adjustment mechanisms resolve overpayments via credit as opposed to cash refunds.

3.14 FOR PURPOSES OF CLARIFICATION, THIRD PARTY SCA PRODUCTS DEVELOPED AND COMMERCIALIZED UNDER THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENTS
ARE ENTERED INTO BY MICROMET PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THUS SUBJECT TO REVENUE SHARING UNDER THIS SECTION 3 WILL NOT BE SUBJECT TO THE MILESTO?
royalties under the Cross-License Agreement.
3.2 Reimbursement Of Expenses.
3.2.1 EacH PArtY wWiLL BEAR 50% OF (1) THE AGGREGATE FTE COSTS REASONABLY INCURRED BY MICROMET IN EXECUTING THE MARKETING(®iga
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION); AND (II) OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSES INCURRED BY MICROMET DIRECTLY IN CONNECTION THEREW(®HE., TRAVEL EXPENSE:

for meetings with potential licensees, legal fees for drafting license agreements).
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3.2.2 ENzoN WILL PAY ITS 50% SHARE OF THE MARKETING BUDGET FOR EACH YEAR IN 4 EQUAL INSTALLMENTS NO LATER THAN THE FIRST DAY
CALENDAR QUARTER. FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2002 THE 50% SHARE WILL BE PAID IN 2 EQUAL INSTALLMENTS NO LATER THAN THE FIRST DAY OF EACH REMAINING CALEND
WITHIN 60 DAYS OF THE LAST DAY OF EACH CALENDAR YEAR, MICROMET WILL PROVIDE ENZON WITH A STATEMENT SETTING FORTH THE ACTUAL LEVEL OF FTE EFFORTS A
COSTS AND EXPENSES FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR IN QUESTION Attual Expenses”), TOGETHER WITH RECEIPTS, CREDIT CARD BILLS AND OTHER APPROPRIATE SUPPORI
DOCUMENTATION. TO THE EXTENT THE ACTUAL EXPENSES EXCEED THE AMOUNTS PAID BY ENZON FOR THE YEAR IN QUESTION PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION, ENZON WILL
MICROMET ITS 50% SHARE OF THE DIFFERENCE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THE STATEMENT OF ACTUAL EXPENSES, PROVIDED THAT, IF THE ACTUAL EXPENSES EXCEE
MARKETING BUDGET BY MORE THAN 20%, ENZON WILL HAVE NO OBLIGATION TO MAKE SUCH PAYMENT UNLESS DURING THE YEAR IN QUESTION MICROMET ADVISED ENzO?
AN ANTICIPATED OVERRUN AND OBTAINED ENZON’S WRITTEN CONSENT TO PAY ITS SHARE OF SAME, WHICH SUCH CONSENT WILL NOT BE UNREASONABLY WITHHELD OR DELAY}
THE EXTENT THE ACTUAL EXPENSES ARE LESS THAN THE AMOUNTS PAID BY ENZON FOR THE YEAR IN QUESTION PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION, THE DIFFERENCE WILL BE C
against the next quarterly installment(s) to be paid by Enzon for the following calendar year.

3.3 Payment Method. ALL AMOUNTS DUE HEREUNDER WILL BE PAID IN US DOLLARS BY WIRE TRANSFER IN IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE FUNDS TO AN ACC
DESIGNATED BY THE RECEIVING PARTY. ANY PAYMENTS OR PORTIONS THEREOF DUE HEREUNDER WHICH ARE NOT PAID ON THE DATE SUCH PAYMENTS ARE DUE WILL BEAR INT
FROM THE DUE DATE UNTIL THE DATE OF PAYMENT AT THE RATE WHICH IS THE LOWER OF (1) 2% OVER THE OVERNIGHT LONDON INTERBANK OFFERING RATE IN EFFECT ON
date or (ii) the highest rate permitted by applicable law, calculated on the number of days such payment is delinquent, compounded monthly.

34 Records Retention. EAcH PARTY WILL MAINTAIN COMPLETE AND ACCURATE BOOKS, RECORDS AND ACCOUNTS IN SUFFICIENT DETAIL TO CONFIRM THE ACC
OF ANY PAYMENTS REQUIRED HEREUNDER, WHICH BOOKS, RECORDS AND ACCOUNTS WILL BE RETAINED BY SUCH PARTY UNTIL 3 YEARS AFTER THE END OF THE PERIOD TO WHIC
books, records and accounts pertain.

3.5 Audit. EACH PARTY WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO HAVE AN INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM OF INTERNATIONALLY RECOGNIZED STAN
REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE AUDITING PARTY, TO HAVE ACCESS DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS, AND UPON REASONABLE PRIOR WRITTEN NOTICE, TO SUCH OF THE REC
THE OTHER PARTY AS MAY BE REASONABLY NECESSARY TO VERIFY THE ACCURACY OF INFORMATION NEEDED TO CALCULATE PAYMENTS REQUIRED HERKYRaymment
Information”) FOR ANY CALENDAR QUARTER ENDING NOT MORE THAN 36 MONTHS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF SUCH REQDEsvided, however, THAT THE AUDITING PARTY WILL »
HAVE THE RIGHT TO CONDUCT MORE THAN ONE SUCH AUDIT IN ANY 12-MONTH PERIOD. THE ACCOUNTING FIRM WILL DISCLOSE TO BOTH PARTIES WHETHER SUCH PAY
INFORMATION IS CORRECT OR INCORRECT AND THE SPECIFIC DETAILS CONCERNING ANY DISCREPANCIES. THE AUDITING PARTY WILL BEAR ALL COSTS OF SUCH AUDIT, UNLESS TF
reveals an underpayment of more than 5% from the reported Payment Information, in which case the other Party will bear the cost of the audit.

3.6 Payment of Additional Amounts. IF, BASED ON THE RESULTS OF ANY AUDIT, ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS ARE OWED BY A PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, :
PARTY WILL MAKE SUCH ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS PROMPTLY AFTER THE ACCOUNTING FIRM’S WRITTEN REPORT IS DELIVERED TO BOTH PARTIES. IF, BASED ON THE RESULTS OF AN
PAYMENTS MADE BY A PARTY HEREUNDER EXCEEDED PAYMENTS INDICATED BY THE AUDIT AS BEING DUE, SUCH EXCESS WILL BE CREDITED AGAINST FUTURE AMOUNTS OWED
the applicable Party hereunder.




3.7 Confidentiality. EACH PARTY WILL TREAT ALL INFORMATION SUBJECT TO REVIEW UNDER THIS SECTION 3 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONFIDEN
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 AND WILL CAUSE ITS ACCOUNTINGirm TO ENTER INTO A REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT WITH THE AUDITED PARTY OBLIC
such firm to maintain all such financial information in confidence pursuant to such confidentiality agreement.

4. Defense of Patent Rights.

EACH PARTY WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO BRING ACTIONS AGAINST THIRD PARTIES INFRINGING SUCH PARTY’S PATENTS AS PROVIDED IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGRE
NOTWITHSTANDING, PRIOR TO BRINGING ANY SUCH ACTION, THE PARTIES WILL MEET TO DISCUSS THE APPROPRIATE STRATEGY FOR ENFORCING THEIR PATENTS, AND MAY AGREE "
the costs of and the damage awards resulting from such actions.

5. Confidentiality.

5.1 Definition. “Confidential Information” MEANS ANY INFORMATION DISCLOSED BY ONE PARTY TO THE OTHER AS REQUIRED BY OR IN THE PERFORMA
under the terms of this Agreement.

5.2 Exclusions.

5.2.1 NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, INFORMATION OF A PARTY WILL NOT BE DEEMED CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO A RECE
Party for purposes of this Agreement if such information:

(a) WAS ALREADY KNOWN TO THE RECEIVING PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES, OTHER THAN UNDER AN OBLIGATION OF CONFIDENTIALITY OR NON
the time of disclosure to the receiving Party;

(b) WAS GENERALLY AVAILABLE OR KNOWN TO PARTIES REASONABLY SKILLED IN THE FIELD TO WHICH SUCH INFORMATION OR KNOW
pertains, or was otherwise part of the public domain, at the time of its disclosure to the receiving Party;

(C) BECAME GENERALLY AVAILABLE OR KNOWN TO PARTIES REASONABLY SKILLED IN THE FIELD TO WHICH SUCH INFORMATION OR KNOW-
PERTAINS, OR OTHERWISE BECAME PART OF THE PUBLIC DOMAIN, AFTER ITS DISCLOSURE TO THE RECEIVING PARTY THROUGH NO FAULT OF OR BREACH OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNL

section 5 by the receiving Party;

(d) was disclosed to the receiving Party other than under an obligation of confidentiality or non-use, by a Third Party who had
no obligation to the Party that Controls such information and know-how not to disclose such information or know-how to others; or

(e) WAS INDEPENDENTLY DISCOVERED OR DEVELOPED BY THE RECEIVING PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES, AS EVIDENCED BY THEIR WRITTEN REC(
without the use of, and by personnel who had no access to, Confidential Information belonging to the Party that Controls such information and know-how.
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5.2.2 SPECIFIC ASPECTS OR DETAILS OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION WILL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE WITHIN THE PUBLIC DOMAIN OR IN THE POSSESSION Of
PARTY MERELY BECAUSE THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION IS EMBRACED BY MORE GENERAL INFORMATION IN THE PUBLIC DOMAIN OR IN THE POSSESSION OF SUCH PARrTY. FURT
ANY COMBINATION OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED IN THE PUBLIC DOMAIN OR IN THE POSSESSION OF A PARTY MERELY BECAUSE INDIVIDUAL ELEME!
OF SUCH CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION ARE IN THE PUBLIC DOMAIN OR IN THE POSSESSION OF SUCH PARTY UNLESS THE COMBINATION AND ITS PRINCIPLES ARE IN THE PUB
domain or in the possession of such Party.

5.3 Disclosure and Use Restriction. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED HEREIN, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT, FOR THE TERM AND FOR 5 YEARS THEREAFTEI
PARTY AND ITS AFFILIATES AND SUBLICENSEES WILL KEEP COMPLETELY CONFIDENTIAL AND WILL NOT PUBLISH OR OTHERWISE DISCLOSE ANY CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
other Party, its Affiliates or sublicensees.

54 Authorized Disclosure. Each Party may disclose Confidential Information of the other Party to the extent that such disclosure is:

54.1 MADE IN RESPONSE TO A VALID ORDER OF A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION OR OTHER GOVERNMENTAL OR REGULATORY BODY OF COMI
jurisdiction; provided, however, THAT SUCH PARTY WILL FIRST HAVE GIVEN NOTICE TO SUCH OTHER PARTY AND GIVEN SUCH OTHER PARTY A REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY Tt
SUCH ORDER AND TO OBTAIN A PROTECTIVE ORDER REQUIRING THAT THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF SUCH ORDER BE HELD IN COl
BY SUCH COURT OR GOVERNMENTAL OR REGULATORY BODY OR, IF DISCLOSED, BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE ORDER WAS Isqueivided, further, AND THAT IF .
DISCLOSURE ORDER IS NOT QUASHED OR A PROTECTIVE ORDER IS NOT OBTAINED, THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION DISCLOSED IN RESPONSE TO SUCH COURT OR GOVERNMENTA
will be limited to that information which is legally required to be disclosed in response to such court or governmental order;

54.2 OTHERWISE REQUIRED BY LAwprovided, however, THAT THE DISCLOSING PARTY WILL PROVIDE SUCH OTHER PARTY WITH NOTICE OF ¢
disclosure in advance thereofto the extent practicable;

54.3 MADE BY SUCH PARTY, IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, TO AFFILIATES, PERMITTED SUBLICENSEES, EMPLOYE
CONSULTANTS, REPRESENTATIVES OR AGENTS, EACH OF WHOM PRIOR TO DISCLOSURE MUST BE BOUND BY OBLIGATIONS OF CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-USE AT LEAST EQUIVAL
scope to those set forth in this section 5; or

5.4.4  MADE BY SUCH PARTY TO EXISTING OR POTENTIAL ACQUIRERS OR MERGER CANDIDATES; EXISTING OR POTENTIAL PHARMACEUTICAL COLLABORAT
THE EXTENT CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER); INVESTMENT BANKERS; EXISTING OR POTENTIAL INVESTORS, VENTURE CAPITAL FIRMS OR OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS OR INVE:
PURPOSES OF OBTAINING FINANCING; OR AFFILIATES, EACH OF WHOM PRIOR TO DISCLOSURE MUST BE BOUND BY OBLIGATIONS OF CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-USE AT LI
EQUIVALENT IN SCOPE TO THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION 5. NOTWITHSTANDING THIS SECTION 5.4.4, NEITHER PARTY WILL DISCLOSE ANY ITEM OF THE OTHER ]
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION TO ANY EXISTING OR POTENTIAL ACQUIRER OR MERGER PARTNER THAT IS SUBSTANTIALLY INVOLVED IN THE EXPLOITATION OF ANTIBODIES WITHO
providing such other Party with reasonable advance written notice of each such disclosure.
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5.5 Use of Name. NEITHER PARTY WILL MAKE PUBLIC USE OF THE OTHER PARTY’S NAME EXCEPT (A) IN CONNECTION WITH ANNOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER PERMI
DISCLOSURES RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE ACTIVITIES CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, (B) AS REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW, AND (C) OTHERWISE AS AGREED IN WRITI
such other Party.

5.6 Press Releases.

5.6.1 The PARTIES WILIMAKE A JOINT PRESS RELEASE REGARDING THE ERUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE FINAL FORM OF WHICH WILL BE SUBJECT
APPROVAL OF BOTH PARTIES PRIOR TO ITS RELEASE TO THE PUBLIC. FOR SUBSEQUENT PRESS RELEASES AND OTHER WRITTEN PUBLIC DISCLOSURES RELATING TO THIS AGREEME?
PARTIES” RELATIONSHIP HEREUNDER (Proposed Disclosures”), EACH PARTY WILL USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO SUBMIT TO THE OTHER PARTY A DRAFT OF SUCH PR
DISCLOSURES FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT BY THE OTHER PARTY AT LEAST FIVE (5) FULL BUSINESS DAYS PRIOR TO THE DATE ON WHICH SUCH PARTY PLANS TO RELEASE SUCH P
DISCLOSURE, AND IN ANY EVENT WILL SUBMIT SUCH DRAFTS AT LEAST 24 HOURS PRIOR TO THE RELEASE OF SUCH PROPOSED DISCLOSURE, AND WILL REVIEW AND CONSIDER
faith any comments provided in response.

5.6.2 IF A PARTY IS UNABLE TO COMPLY WITH THE FOREGOING 24-HOUR NOTICE REQUIREMENT BECAUSE OF A LEGAL OBLIGATION OR STOCK EXCF
requirement to make more rapid disclosure, such Party will not be in breach of this Agreement but will in that case give telephone notice to a senior executive
of the other Party and provide a draft disclosure with as much notice as possible prior to the release of such Proposed Disclosure.

5.6.3 A PARTY MAY PUBLICLY DISCLOSE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRECEDING REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SECTION 5.6 INFORMATION THAT WAS PREVIO!
disclosed in a Proposed Disclosure that was in compliance with such requirements.

5.6.4 THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SECTION 5.6 WILL NOT APPLY TO PUBLIC DISCLOSURES, WRITTEN OR OTHERWISE REGARDING A PARTY’s PIPELINE PrC
that do not specifically refer to this Agreement or the Parties’ relationship hereunder.

5.7 Terms of Agreement to be Maintained in Confidence. SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 5, INCLUDING THE EXCEPTION FOR ANY PUBL
DISCLOSURES MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SECTION 5.6, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT ARE CONFIDENTIAL AND WILL NOT BE DISCLC
EITHER PARTY TO ANY THIRD PARTY (EXCEPT TO A PARTY’S PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR) WITHOUT ADVANCE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE OTHER PARTY, PROVIDED THAT EITHER F
MAKE ANY FILINGS OF THIS AGREEMENT REQUIRED BY LAW OR REGULATION IN ANY COUNTRY SO LONG AS SUCH PARTY USES ITS REASONABLE EFFORTS TO OBTAIN CONFI
TREATMENT FOR PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT AS AVAILABLE, CONSULTS WITH THE OTHER PARTY, AND PERMITS THE OTHER PARTY TO PARTICIPATE, TO THE EXTENT PRACT
SEEKING A PROTECTIVE ORDER OR OTHER CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT, AND FURTHER PROVIDED THAT EITHER PARTY MAY DISCLOSE THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT TO A TH
(AND ITS PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS) WHEN SUCH DISCLOSURE IS REASONABLY NECESSARY IN CONNECTION WITH (I) THE GRANT OF A LICENSE OR SUBLICENSE OF THE LICENSED P
TO SUCH THIRD PARTY, (II) A MERGER, ACQUISITION, PLACEMENT, INVESTMENT, OR OTHER SUCH TRANSACTION WITH SUCH THIRD PARTY, OR (1lI) THE SALE OF SECURITIES TO C
FINANCING FROM SUCH THIRD PARTY OR A FINANCING UNDERWRITTEN BY SUCH THIRD PARTY, IN WHICH CASE DISCLOSURE MAY BE MADE TO ANY PERSON OR ENTITY TO WHOM
THIRD PARTY SELLS SUCH SECURITIES (AND ITS PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS). ADVANCE WRITTEN PERMISSION FOR DISCLOSURE WILL NOT BE REQUIRED WHEN A PARTY IS ORDI
DISCLOSE INFORMATION CONCERNING THE AGREEMENT BY A COMPETENT TRIBUNAL OR SUCH DISCLOSURES ARE REQUIRED BY LAW, REGULATION, OR STOCK EXCHANGE RULES,
THAT SUCH PARTY WILL MAKE ALL REASONABLE EFFORTS TO LIMIT ANY DISCLOSURE AS MAY BE REQUIRED IN THE COURSE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS BY ENTRY OF AN APP
protective and confidentiality order, and will provide the other Party with as much advance notice of such circumstances as is practicable.
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6. Term And Termination

6.1 Term. THis AGREEMENT WILL BE EFFECTIVE AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE AND WILL EXPIRE UPON THE EXPIRATION OF THE LAST-TO-EXPIRE PATENT WITH
Consolidated Patent Portfolio.

6.2 Termination for Material Breach.

6.2.1 ANY MATERIAL FAILURE BY A PARTY TO COMPLY WITH ANY OF ITS MATERIAL OBLIGATIONS CONTAINED HEREIR¢fault”) WiLL ENTITLE THE PAR
NOT IN DEFAULT TO GIVE TO THE PARTY IN DEFAULT WRITTEN NOTICE SPECIFYING THE NATURE OF THE DEFAULT, REQUIRING THE DEFAULTING PARTY TO MAKE GOOD OR OTHER
such Default.

6.2.2  Ir sucH DEFAULT IS NOT CURED WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER THE RECEIPT OF NOTICE PURSUANT TO SECTION 6.2.1 ABOVE (OR, IF SUCH DEFAULT CAN?
CURED WITHIN SUCH 30-DAY PERIOD, IF THE PARTY IN DEFAULT DOES NOT COMMENCE ACTIONS TO CURE SUCH DEFAULT WITHIN SUCH 30-DAY PERIOD AND THEREAFTER DILIG
CONTINUE SUCH ACTIONS OR IF SUCH DEFAULT IS NOT OTHERWISE CURED WITHIN 180 DAYS AFTER THE RECEIPT OF SUCH NOTICE, EXCEPT IN THE CASE OF A PAYMENT DEFAULT
WHICH THE DEFAULTING PARTY WILL HAVE ONLY A 30-DAY CURE PERIOD), THE PARTY NOT IN DEFAULT WILL BE ENTITLED, ON WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE OTHER PARTY ANI
PREJUDICE TO ANY OF ITS OTHER RIGHTS CONFERRED ON IT BY THIS AGREEMENT TO SEEK A DETERMINATION BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION, IN ACCORDANCE WI"
PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN SECTION 9.4 HEREOF, THAT SUCH DEFAULT CONSTITUTES A MATERIAL BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT FOR WHICH TERMINATION OF THIS AGREE
authorized by law (such determination a “Finding of Justifiable Termination”).

6.2.3  UproN A FINDING OF JUSTIFIABLE TERMINATION, THE PARTY NOT IN DEFAULT WILL BE ENTITLED, IN ADDITION TO ANY OTHER REMEDIES AVAILABLE
BY LAW OR IN EQUITY, TO TERMINATE THIS AGREEMENT, UNLESS THE BREACHING PARTY HAS CURED SUCH DEFAULT WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER DELIVERY OF THE FINDING OF JUs®
Termination.

6.3 Termination of Cross License Agreement. THIS AGREEMENT WILL TERMINATE UPON ANY EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION OF THE CROSS-LICEN
Agreement.
6.4 Termination at Will. Ir THIS AGREEMENT IS STILL IN EFFECT UPON EXPIRATION OF THE RESEARCH TERM (AS DEFINED IN THE COLLABORATION AGREEMI

THEN EITHER PARTY MAY TERMINATE THIS AGREEMENT, FOR ANY REASON OR NO REASON AT ALL, ON WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE OTHER PARTY, SUCH WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE Ef
DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF NOTICE UPON THE OTHER PARTY. AFTER SERVICE OF NOTICE OF TERMINATION BY MICROMET UPON ENZON, OR MICROMET’S RECEIPT OF NOTI
TERMINATION BY ENZON, MICROMET WILL NOT INITIATE ANY NEGOTIATIONS REGARDING FURTHER LICENSES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, BUT MAY CONCLUDE ANY NEGOTIATION
have been initiated.
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6.5 Effect of Expiration or Termination on Third Party License Agreements. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE CROSS-LICENSE AGREEMEN'
ANY THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENTS IN EFFECT AS OF THE DATE OF ANY EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL SURVIVE ANY EXPIRATION OR TERMINAT
this Agreement, until expiring or terminated in accordance with their terms.

6.6 Obligations Continue. TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL NOT RELIEVE THFARTIESOF ANY OBLIGATION ACCRUING PRIOR TO SUCH EXPIRATION (
termination. The provisions of sections 3, 5 (except 5.6), 6.5, 6.6, 7, 8 and 9 will survive termination of this Agreement. For avoidance of doubt, the Licensing
Revenue sharing obligations of section 3.1 will survive after termination of this Agreement.

7. Indemnification And Insurance

7.1 Indemnification of Micromet. Enzon will indemnify MICROMET, ITS AFFILIATES, AND THEIR RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGE
AND DEFEND AND SAVE EACH OF THEM HARMLESS, FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOSSES, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES, COSTS AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEY
AND EXPENSES) IN CONNECTION WITH ANY AND ALL LIABILITY SUITS, INVESTIGATIONS, CLAIMS OR DEMANDS (COLLECTIVELY,08ses”) BY THIRD PARTIES ARISING FROM O
OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIM OR ACTION BROUGHT OR TAKEN BY ENZON AGAINST A THIRD PARTY THAT IS A PARTY TO A THIRD PARTY
Agreement.

7.2 Indemnification of Enzon. MICROMET WILL INDEMNIFY ENZON, ITS AFFILIATES, AND THEIR RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS,
DEFEND AND SAVE EACH OF THEM HARMLESS, FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOsSES BY THIRD PARTIES ARISING FROM OR OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF OR IN CONNECTIC
Micromet’s activities under this Agreement.

7.3 Indemnification Procedure.

7.3.1 Notice of Claim. THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY WILL GIVE THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY (THE‘Indemnifying Party”) PROMPT WRITTEN NOTICE (Al
“Indemnification Claim Notice”) oF ANY LOSSES OR DISCOVERY OF FACT UPON WHICH SUCH INDEMNIFIED PARTY INTENDS TO BASE A REQUEST FOR INDEMNIFICATION @8
SECTION 7.1 OR SECTION7.2, BUT IN NO EVENT WILL THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSSES THAT RESULT FROM ANY DELAY IN PROVIDING SUCH NOTICE. ]
INDEMNIFICATION CLAIM NOTICE MUST CONTAIN A DESCRIPTION OF THE CLAIM AND THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF SUCH LOSS (TO THE EXTENT THAT THE NATURE AND AMO
SUCH LoSs ARE KNOWN AT SUCH TIME). THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY WILL FURNISH PROMPTLY TO THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY COPIES OF ALL PAPERS AND OFFICIAL DOCUME
RECEIVED IN RESPECT OF ANY LOSSES. ALL INDEMNIFICATION CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF A PARTY, ITS AFFILIATES OR THEIR RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND A
(collectively, the “Indemnitees” and each an “Indemnitee”) will be made solely by such Party to this Agreement (the “Indemnified Party”).

7.3.2 Third Party Claims. THE OBLIGATIONS OF AN INDEMNIFYING PARTY UNDER THIS SECTION 8 WITH RESPECT TO LOSSES ARISING FROM CLAIMS

any Third Party that are subject to indemnification as provided for in section 7.1 or 7.2 (a “Third Party Claim”) will be governed by and be contingent upon
the following additional terms and conditions:
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(@) Control of Defense.

(@) At its option, the Indemnifying Party may assume the defense of any Third Party Claim by giving written notice to
the Indemnified Party within 30 days after the Indemnifying Party’s receipt of an Indemnification Claim Notice.

(ii) UPoON assuming THE DEFENSE OF A THIRD PArRTY CLAIM, THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY MAY APPOINT AS LEAD COUNSEL IN 1
DEFENSE OF THE THIRD PARTY CLAIM ANY LEGAL COUNSEL SELECTED BY THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY. IN THE EVENT THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY ASSUMES THE DEFENSE OF A
PArRTY CLAIM, THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY WILL IMMEDIATELY DELIVER TO THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY ALL ORIGINAL NOTICES AND DOCUMENTS (INCLUDING COURT PAPERS) RECI
BY ANY INDEMNITEE IN CONNECTION WITH THE THIRD PARTY CLAIM. SHOULD THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY ASSUME THE DEFENSE OF A THIRD PARTY CLAIM, THE INDEMNIFY
PARTY WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY OR ANY OTHER INDEMNITEE FOR ANY LEGAL EXPENSES SUBSEQUENTLY INCURRED BY SUCH INDEMNIFIED PARTY 01
Indemnitee in connection with the analysis, defense or settlement of the Third Party Claim.

(b) Right to Participate in Defense. WITHOUT LIMITING SECTION 7.3.2(A), ANY INDEMNITEE WILL BE ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN, Bl
NOT CONTROL, THE DEFENSE OF SUCH THIRD PARTY CLAIM AND TO EMPLOY COUNSEL OF ITS CHOICE FOR SUCH PURPqEEIViIded, however, THAT SUCH EMPLOYMENT WILL BE A
THE INDEMNITEE’S OWN EXPENSE UNLESS (I) THE EMPLOYMENT THEREOF HAS BEEN SPECIFICALLY AUTHORIZED BY THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY IN WRITING, OR (1) T
INDEMNIFYING PARTY HAS FAILED TO ASSUME THE DEFENSE AND EMPLOY COUNSEL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.3.2(A) (IN WHICH CASE THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY WILL CON
the defense).

(c) Settlement. WiTH RESPECT TO ANY LOSSES RELATING SOLELY TO THE PAYMENT OF MONEY DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH A THIRD P2
CLAIM AND THAT WILL NOT RESULT IN THE INDEMNITEE’S BECOMING SUBJECT TO INJUNCTIVE OR OTHER RELIEF OR OTHERWISE ADVERSELY AFFECT THE BUSINESS OF THE INDI
IN ANY MANNER, AND AS TO WHICH THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY WILL HAVE ACKNOWLEDGED IN WRITING THE OBLIGATION TO INIMEIFY THE INDEMNITEE HEREUNDER, TH
IndemnifyING PARTY WILL HAVE THE SOLE RIGHT TO CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF ANY JUDGMENT, ENTER INTO ANY SETTLEMENT OR OTHERWISE DISPOSE OF SUCH LosSs, «
TERMS AS THEIndemnifying PARTY, IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION, WILL DEEM APPROPRIATE, AND WILL TRANSFER TO THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY ALL AMOUNTS WHICH SAID INDEM?
PARTY WILL BE LIABLE TO PAY PRIOR TO THE TIME PRIOR TO THE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT. WITH RESPECT TO ALL OTHER LOSSES IN CONNECTION WITH THIRD PARTY CLAIMS, W1
INDEMNIFYING PARTY HAS ASSUMED THE DEFENSE OF THE THIRD PARTY CLAIM IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.3.2(A), THE INDHFYING PARTY WILL HAVE AUTHORITY
CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF ANY JUDGMENT, ENTER INTO ANY SETTLEMENT OR OTHERWISE DISPOSE OF SUCH LOSS PROVIDED IT OBTAINS THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT
INDEMNIFIED PARTY (WHICH CONSENT WILL BE AT THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY’S SOLE AND ABSOLUTE DISCRETION). THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOI
SETTLEMENT OR OTHER DISPOSITION OF A L0OSS BY AN INDEMNITEE THAT IS REACHED WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY. REGARDLESS OF WHET
INDEMNIFYING PARTY CHOOSES TO DEFEND OR PROSECUTE ANY THIRD PARTY CLAIM, NO INDEMNITEE WILL ADMIT ANY LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO, OR SETTLE, COMPROM
discharge, any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party.
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(d) Cooperation. REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE INDENiFYING PARTY CHOOSES TO DEFEND OR PROSECUTE ANY THIRD PARrTY CLAIM,
INDEMNIFIED PARTY WILL, AND WILL CAUSE EACH OTHER INDEMNITEE TO, COOPERATE IN THE DEFENSE OR PROSECUTION THEREOF AND WILL FURNISH SUCH RECORDS, INFOR
AND TESTIMONY, PROVIDE SUCH WITNESSES AND ATTEND SUCH CONFERENCES, DISCOVERY PROCEEDINGS, HEARINGS, TRIALS AND APPEALS AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUESTE
CONNECTION THEREWITH. SUCH COOPERATION WILL INCLUDE ACCESS DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AFFORDED TO THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY TO, AND REASONABLE RETEN'
THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY OF, RECORDS AND INFORMATION THAT ARE REASONABLY RELEVANT TO SUCH THIRD PARTY CLAIM, AND MAKING INDEMNITEES AND OTHER EMPLOYE
AGENTS AVAILABLE ON A MUTUALLY CONVENIENT BASIS TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND EXPLANAT®EN ANY MATERIAL PROVIDED HEREUNDER, AND T
Indemnifying Party will reimburse the Indemnified Party for all its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection therewith.

74 Expenses. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED ABOVE, THE REASONABLE AND VERIFIABLE COSTS AND EXPENSES, INCLUDING FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS OF COUNS
INCURRED BY THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIM WILL BE REIMBURSED ON A CALENDAR QUARTER BASIS BY THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY, WITHOUT PREJU
TO THE INDEMNIFYING PARTY’S RIGHT TO CONTEST THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY’S RIGHT TO INDEMNIFICATION AND SUBJECT TO REFUND IN THE EVENT THE INDEMNIFYING PA
ultimately held not to be obligated to indemnify the Indemnified Party.

7.5 Insurance. EACH PARTY WILL HAVE AND MAINTAIN SUCH TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF LIABILITY INSURANCE AS IS NORMAL AND CUSTOMARY IN THE INDU
GENERALLY FOR PARTIES SIMILARLY SITUATED, AND WILL UPON REQUEST PROVIDE THE OTHER PARTY WITH A COPY OF ITS POLICIES OF INSURANCE IN THAT REGARD, ALONG V
amendments and revisions thereto.

8. Limitation Of Liability

IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR LOST PROFITS, LOSS OF DATA, OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY AND WHETHER OR NOT SUCH PARTY HAD
OR SHOULD HAVE HAD KNOWLEDGE, ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE, OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, ARISING UNDER ANY CAUSE
OF ACTION AND ARISING IN ANY WAY OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS WILL NOT APPLY TO AN AWARD OF
ENHANCED DAMAGES AVAILABLE UNDER THE PATENT LAWS FOR WILLFUL PATENT INFRINGEMENT AND WILL NOT LIMIT EITHER
PARTY’S INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS TO THE OTHER PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY AND EXCLUSIONS OF
DAMAGES: (A) ARE A FUNDAMENTAL ELEMENT OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND THIS AGREEMENT WOULD NOT BE ENTERED INTO WITHOUT SUCH LIMI
and exclusions; and (b) shall apply notwithstanding any failure of essential purpose of any limited remedy herein.

15.




9. Miscellaneous

9.1 Rights in Bankruptcy. ALL RIGHTS AND LICENSES GRANTED UNDER OR PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT BY MICROMET OR ENZON ARE, AND WILL OTHER'
DEEMED TO BE, FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 365(N) OF THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE, LICENSES OF RIGHTS TO “INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY”” AS DEFINED UNDER SECTIC
ofF THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE EXCEPT AS MAY OTHERWISE BE REQUIRED BY ANY PROVISION UNDER GERMAN INSOLVENCY LAWS. THE PARTIES AGREE THA
Parties, as licensees of such rights under this Agreement, will retain and may fully exercise all of their rights and elections under the United States Bankruptcy
CODE TO THE EXTENT NOT OTHERWISE MANDATORILY PROVIDED FOR UNDER GERMAN INSOLVENCY LAWS. THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT, IN THE EVENT OF THE COMMEN
OF A BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING BY OR AGAINST A PARTY UNDER THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE, OR THE GERMAN INSOLVENCY 60 /yenzordnung), As THE CASI
MAY BE, THE PARTY HERETO THAT IS NOT A PARTY TO SUCH PROCEEDING WILL BE ENTITLED TO A COMPLETE DUPLICATE OF (OR COMPLETE ACCESS TO, AS APPROPRIATE) AN
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND ALL EMBODIMENTS OF SUCH INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, WHICH, IF NOT ALREADY IN THE NON-SUBJECT PARTY’S POSSESSION, WILL BE PR(
DELIVERED TO IT (A) UPON ANY SUCH COMMENCEMENT OF A BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING UPON THE NON-SUBJECT PARTY’S WRITTEN REQUEST THEREFORE, UNLESS THE PARTY s
TO SUCH PROCEEDING CONTINUES TO PERFORM ALL OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR (B) IF NOT DELIVERED UNDER CLAUSE (A) ABOVE, FOLLOWING THE REJEC
this Agreement by or on behalf of the Party subject to such proceeding upon written request therefore by the non-subject Party.

9.2 Assignment WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE OTHER PARTY HERETO (WHICH SUCH CONSENT MAY BE GRANTED, WITHHELD OR CONDITIONEL
OTHER PARTY’S SOLE AND ABSOLUTE DISCRETION), NEITHER PARTY WILL SELL, TRANSFER, ASSIGN, DELEGATE, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE DISPOSE OF, WHETHER VOLUNTARILY, INV(
by operation of law or otherwise, this Agreement or any of'its rights or duties hereunder; provided, however, that either Party hereto may assign or transfer this
AGREEMENT OR ANY OF ITS RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF THE OTHER PARTY (A) TO ANY AFFILIATE OF SUCH PARTY; OR (B) TO ANY THIRD I
WHICH IT MERGES OR CONSOLIDATES, OR TO WHICH IT TRANSFERS ALL OR SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF ITS ASSETS TO WHICH THIS AGREEMENT RELpreyidenl, further, IN EITHER CAst
THAT SUCH ASSIGNMENT MAY OCCUR ONLY TOGETHER WITH A PERMITTED ASSIGNMENI BOTH THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT (IF THEN IN FORCE) AND THFoss-License
AGREEMENT (IF THEN IN FORCE) TO SUCH ASSIGNEE. THE ASSIGNING PARTY (EXCEPT IF IT IS NOT THE SURVIVING ENTITY) WILL REMAIN JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE WT
RELEVANT AFFILIATE OR THIRD PARTY ASSIGNEE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, AND THE RELEVANT AFFILIATE ASSIGNEE, THIRD PARTY ASSIGNEE OR SURVIVING ENTITY WILL AS
WRITING ALL OF THE ASSIGNING PARTY’S OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. ANY PURPORTED ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER IN VIOLATION OF THIS SECTION WILL BEzbOimitio
and ofno force or effect.

93 Severability. IF ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT IS HELD TO BE ILLEGAL, INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE UNDER ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE LAW, AND
RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS OF EITHER PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WILL NOT BE MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY AFFECTED THEREBY, (A) SUCH PROVISION WILL BE FULLY SEVEFE
THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED AS IF SUCH ILLEGAL, INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE PROVISION HAD NEVER COMPRISED A PART HEREOF, (Cjerm@ining
PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT AND WILL NOT BE AFFECTED BY THE ILLEGAL, INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE PROVISION OR BY ITS SE'
HEREFROM, AND (D) IN LIEU OF SUCH ILLEGAL, INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE PROVISION, THERE WILL BE ADDED AUTOMATICALLY AS A PART OF THIS AGREEMENT A LEGAL, VA
ENFORCEABLE PROVISION AS SIMILAR IN TERMS TO SUCH ILLEGAL, INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE PROVISION AS MAY BE POSSIBLE AND REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE P:
HEREIN. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ANY PROVISION OF LAW THAT WOULD RENDER ANY PROVISION PROHIBIT
unenforceable in any respect.
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9.4 Governing Law; Dispute Resolution.

9.4.1  THis AGREEMENT, ITS INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION, AND ANY CONTROVERSY, CLAIM OR DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES RELATED TO OR
OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ORIGINAL MARKETING AGREEMENT (EACf Bispute”), INCLUDING ANY DISPUTE RELATING TO THE PARTIES’ RELATIONSHIP CREATED HEREBY,
NEGOTIATIONS FOR AND ENTRY INTO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ORIGINAL MARKETING AGREEMENT, ITS CONCLUSION, BINDING EFFECT, AMENDMENT, COVERAGE, OR TERMINAT
THE PERFORMANCE OR ALLEGED NON-PERFORMANCE OF A PARTY OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ORIGINAL MARKETING AGREEMENT, WILL BE GOVERNEI
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND WHOLLY PERFORMED WITHIN SUCH JURISDICTION BY RESIDENTS OF SUCH JURISDICTION AND WI
reference to its choice of law principles.

9.4.2  THE PARTIES WILL TRY TO SETTLE ANY DISPUTE AMICABLY BETWEEN THEMSELVES. IN THE EVENT OF A DISPUTE, A PARTY MAY NOTIFY THE OTHEI
IN WRITING OF SUCH DISPUTE. IF THE PARTIES ARE UNABLE TO RESOLVE THE DISPUTE WITHIN 20 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THE WRITTEN NOTICE BY THE OTHER PARTY, SUCH DISPU
BE REFERRED TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF EACH OF THE PARTIES (OR THEIR RESPECTIVE DESIGNEES) WHO WILL USE THEIR GOOD FAITH EFFORTS TO RESOLVE THE
within 30 days after it was referred to the Chief Executive Officers.

9.4.3 I A DISPUTE IS NOT RESOLVED BY SUCH OFFICERS PURSUANT TO SECTION 9.4.2, EITHER PARTY MAY BRING AN ACTION IN THE FEDERAL COURTS OF
COURTS LOCATED IN NEW YORK COUNTY, STATE OF NEW YORK, WHICH WILL HAVE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION (WITHOUT PREJUDICE TO THE RIGHT TO SEEK REMOVAL TO I
COURTS) OVER ANY SUCH DisPUTES. THE PARTIES SUBMIT TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS FOR ANY SUCH ACTION, AGREE THAT SUCH COURTS PROVIDE A CONV
forum for any such action, and waive any objections or challenges to venue.

9.5 Notices. ALL NOTICES OR OTHER COMMUNICATIONS THAT ARE REQUIRED OR PERMITTED HEREUNDER WILL BE IN WRITING AND DELIVERED PERSONALLY, S
FACSIMILE (AND PROMPTLY CONFIRMED BY PERSONAL DELIVERY OR OVERNIGHT COURIER AS PROVIDED HEREIN), OR SENT BY INTERNATIONALLY- RECOGNIZED OVERNIGHT CC
addressed as follows:

Ifto Enzon, to:

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

685 Route 202/206

Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807
USA

Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile: (908) 575-1843

with a copy to:

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
685 Route 202/206
Bridgewater, NJ 08807
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: (908) 541-8838

17.




and

Kenyon & Kenyon

One Broadway

New York, NY 10004-1050
Attention: Charles A. Weiss, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 425-5288

If to Micromet, to:

Micromet AG

Staffelseestrasse 2

81477 Munich

Germany

Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile: ++49 89 895 277 285

with a copy to:

Cooley Godward LLP

One Freedom Square

Reston Town Center

11951 Freedom Drive

Reston, Virginia 20190-5656
Attention: Matthias Alder, Esq,
Facsimile: (703) 456-8100

OR TO SUCH OTHER ADDRESS AS THE PARTY TO WHOM NOTICE IS TO BE GIVEN MAY HAVE FURNISHED TO THE OTHER PARTY IN WRITING IN ACCORDANCE HEREWITH- AN
COMMUNICATION WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN GIVEN (1) WHEN DELIVERED, IF PERSONALLY DELIVERED OR SENT BY FACSIMILE ON A BUSINESS DAY, AND (II) ON THE SECON
BUSINESS DAY AFTER DISPATCH, IF SENT BY INTERNATIONALLY -RECOGNIZED OVERNIGHT COURIER. IT IS UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT THIS SECTION 9.5 IS NOT INTENDED TO «
the day-to-day business communications necessary between the Parties in performing their duties, in due course, under the terms of this Agreement.

9.6 Entire Agreement; Modifications. THIS AGREEMENT SETS FORTH AND CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE P,
WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND ALL PRIOR AGREEMENTS, UNDERSTANDING, PROMISES AND REPRESENTATIONS, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPEC’
INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE ORIGINAL MARKETING AGREEMENT, ARE SUPERSEDED HEREBY. EACH PARTY CONFIRMS THAT IT IS NOT RELYING ON ANY REPRESENTAT]
WARRANTIES OF THE OTHER PARTY EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH HEREIN. NO AMENDMENT OR MODIFICATION OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE BINDING UPON THE PARTIES U
made in writing and duly executed by authorized representatives of both Parties,

9.7 Relationship of the Parties. IT 1S EXPRESSLY AGREED THAT THE PARTIES’ RELATIONSHIP UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS STRICTLY THAT OF LICENSOR-LICENSE
THAT THIS AGREEMENT DOES NOT CREATE OR CONSTITUTE A PARTNERSHIP, JOINT VENTURE OR AGENCY. NEITHER PARTY WILL HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO MAKE ANY ST,
REPRESENTATIONS OR COMMITMENTS OF ANY KIND, OR TO TAKE ANY ACTION, WHICH WILL BE BINDING ON THE OTHER. ALL PERSONS EMPLOYED BY A PARTY WILL BE EMPLOYEE
SUCH PARTY AND NOT OF THE OTHER PARTY AND ALL COSTS AND OBLIGATIONS INCURRED BY REASON OF ANY SUCH EMPLOYMENT WILL BE FOR THE ACCOUNT AND EXPENSE
Party.
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9.8 Waiver. ANY TERM OR CONDITION OF THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE WAIVED AT ANY TIME BY THE PARTY THAT IS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT THEREOF, BUT NO
WAIVER WILL BE EFFECTIVE UNLESS SET FORTH IN A WRITTEN INSTRUMENT DULY EXECUTED BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE PARTY WAIVING SUCH TERM OR CONDITION. THE WA
EITHER PARTY HERETO OF ANY RIGHT HEREUNDER OR OF CLAIMS BASED ON THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR A BREACH BY THE OTHER PARTY WILL NOT BE DEEMED A WAIVER OF
right hereunder or of any other breach or failure by said other Party whether of a similar nature or otherwise.

9.9 Counterparts. THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE EXECUTED IN 2 OR MORE COUNTERPARTS, EACH OF WHICH WILL BE DEEMED AN ORIGINAL, BUT ALL OF WH
together will constitute one and the same instrument.

9.10 No Benefit to Third Parties. THE REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE FOR THE SOLE E
of'the Parties hereto and their successors and permitted assigns, and they will not be construed as conferring any rights on any other parties.

9.11 Further Assurance. EACH PARTY WILL DULY EXECUTE AND DELIVER, OR CAUSE TO BE DULY EXECUTED AND DELIVERED, SUCH FURTHER INSTRUMENTS /
and cause to be done such further acts and things, including the filing of such assignments, agreements, documents and instruments, as may be necessary or as
THE OTHER PARTY MAY REASONABLY REQUEST IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR TO CARRY OUT MORE EFFECTIVELY THE PROVISIONS AND PURPOSES, OR TO BETTER AS¥
confirm unto such other Party its rights and remedies under this Agreement.

9.12 English Language. THIS AGREEMENT HAS BEEN WRITTEN AND EXECUTED IN THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE. ANY TRANSLATION INTO ANY OTHER LANGUAG
NOT BE AN OFFICIAL VERSION THEREOF, AND IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT IN INTERPRETATION BETWEEN THE ENGLISH VERSION AND SUCH TRANSLATION, THE ENGLISH VERS
control.

9.13 Construction. EXCEPT WHERE THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE REQUIRES, WHEREVER USED, THE SINGULAR WILL INCLUDE THE PLURAL, THE PLURAL THE SINGI
USE OF ANY GENDER WILL BE APPLICABLE TO ALL GENDERS AND THE WORD “OR” IS USED IN THE INCLUSIVE SENSE (AND/OR). THE CAPTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT Al
convenience of reference only and in no way define, describe, extend or limit the scope or intent of this Agreement or the intent of any provision contained in
THIS AGREEMENT. THE TERM “INCLUDING” AS USED HEREIN MEANS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF ANY DESCRIPTION PRECEDING SUCH TERM. THE LANGU
OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE DEEMED TO BE THE LANGUAGE MUTUALLY CHOSEN BY THE PARTIES AND NO RULE OF STRICT CONSTRUCTION WILL BE APPL&HNSAGEITHER PART
hereto.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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In Witness Whereof, THE PARTIES HAVE CAUSED THIS AGREEMENT TO BE EXECUTED BY THEIR RESPECTIVE AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES AS OF THE AMENDN

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Zuerblis

Name: Kenneth J. Zuerblis

Title: Vice President, Finance,

Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary

Date.

Micromet AG

By: /s/ Christian Itin
Name: Christian Itin
Title: CEO

By: /s/ Patrick Baeuerle
Name: Patrick Baeuerle
Title:  CSO

[Signature Page to the Amended and Restated Exclusive IP Marketing Agreement]




AMENDMENT
TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED EXCLUSIVE IP MARKETING AGREEMENT

This Amendment (the “Amendment™) IS MADE AND ENTERED INTO AS OF NOVEMBER 21, 2005, BY AND BETWEEN MICROMET AG, HAVING ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE
AT STAFFELSEESTRASSE 2, 81477 MunicH, GERMANY*Micromet”), AND ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., HAVING ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICES AT 685 RouTte 202/20
BRIDGEWATER, NEW JERSEY 08807, USA ¢{Enzon”). MICROMET AND ENZON EACH MAY BE REFERRED TO HEREIN INDIVIDUALLY AS ‘AParty,” OR COLLECTIVELY AS TI
“Parties.”

Recitals

A. THE PARTIES HAVE ENTERED INTO THAT CERTAIN AMENDED AND RESTATED EXCLUSIVE IP MARKETING AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JUNE 28, 2004
“Agreement”), PURSUANT TO WHICH THE PARTIES HAVE GRANTED CERTAIN RIGHTS RELATING TO THE MARKETING OF CERTAIN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS BY MICR
behalf of both Parties, Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Agreement.

B. THE PARTIES HAVE ENTERED INTO THAT CERTAIN TERMINATION AGREEMENT DATED AS OF THE DATE OF THIS AMENDMENT (flfermination Agreement” )
PURSUANT TO WHICH THE PARTIES HAVE TERMINATED THE RESEARCH COLLABORATION UNDER THAT CERTAIN AMENDED AND RESTATED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, DATED A!
28, 2004 (te“Collaboration Agreement”). THE PARTIES DESIRE TO AMEND THE AGREEMENT TO REFLECT CERTAIN CHANGES RELATING TO SUCH TERMINATION C
Collaboration Agreement.

Agreement

Now, Therefore, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL PROMISES AND COVENANTS SET FORTH HEREIN AND FOR OTHER GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATIC
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Amendment to Section 3.1.1. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO AMEND AND RESTATE SECTION 3.1.1 OF THE AGREEMENT, IN ITS ENTIRETY, AS FOLLOWS:
PARTY WILL BE ENTITLED TO AN EQUAL 50% SHARE OF ALL LICENSING REVENUE RECEIVED BY MICROMET ON OR AFTER OCTOBER 1, 2005. WiTH RESPECT TO LICENSING R
RECEIVED AND HELD BY MICROMET ON OR BEFORE SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, MICROMET WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO RETAIN AND DISPOSE OF SUCH LICENSING REVENUE AS PROVII
in Section 2.2.1 of that certain Termination Agreement between the Parties, dated as of November 21, 2005.”

2. Amendment to Section 3.1.2. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO AMEND SECTION 3.1.2 OF THE AGREEMENT BY APPENDING THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE AT
END OF SUCH SECTION; “MICROMET WILL ACCOMPANY EACH SUCH REPORT WITH A PAYMENT EQUAL TO ENZON'S 50% SHARE OF SUCH LICENSING REVENUE, AS MAY BE ADJUST
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS SECTION 3. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, IN ORDER TO PERMIT ENZON TO MEET ITS FINANCIAL REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, MICI
AGREES TO PROVIDE ENZON WITH WRITTEN NOTICE OF EACH THIRD PARTY LICENSE AGREEMENT AND THE AMOUNT OF LICENSING REVENUE RECEIVED OR TO BE RECEIVE
Micromet under such Third Party License Agreement, within five (5) business days after the final execution thereof.”




3. Amendment to Section 6.4. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO AMEND SECTION 6.4 OF THE AGREEMENT BY REPLACING THE FIRST SENTENCE OF SUCH SEC
WITH THE FOLLOWING: “IF THIS AGREEMENT IS STILL IN EFFECT ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2007, THEN, AT ANY TIME AFTER SUCH DATE, EITHER PARTY MAY TERMINATE THIS AGREEMI
any reason or no reason at all, on written notice to the other Party, such written notice to be effective 30 days after service of notice upon the other Party.”

4. Counterparts. THISs AMENDMENT MAY BE EXECUTED IN TWO OR MORE COUNTERPARTS, EACH OF WHICH SHALL BE DEEMED AN ORIGINAL, BUT ALL OF WH
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

5. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective upon the execution hereof by both Parties.
6 . Continuing Effect. OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH IN THIS AMENDMENT, ALL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE AGREEMENT SHALL CONTINUE IN FUL
and effect.

In Witness Whereof, THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED EXCLUSIVE IP MARKETING AGREEMENT AS OF THE DATE F
written above.

Micromet AG Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
By: /s/ Christian Itin By: /s/ Jeffrey H. Buchalter
Name:  Christian Itin Title:  Jeffrey H. Buchalter
Title:  CEO Title:  Chairman, Pres & CEO
By: /s/ GK. Miron

Name: G.K. Miron
Title:  CFO/COO




Exhibit 10.29
[SERVIERIP UK LIMITED LETTERHEAD)]

January 30,2019

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
685 Route 202/206
Bridgewater, NJ 08807
Attn: Legal Department
Fax: (908) 541-8838

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2009, by and between Klee Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Klee”),
Defiante Farmaceutica, S.A. (“Defiante”), and Sigma-Tan Finanziaria S.p.A. (solely for the purpose of Section 6.4, Section 7.8(a), Section 7.8(e) and Section
12.17 thereof), on the one hand, and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Enzon”), on the other hand (the “APA”). Capitalized terms used in this letter agreement
without definition shall have the meanings given to them in the APA.

1. Satisfaction of Milestone Payment. Pursuant to Section 3.3(a)(ii) of the APA, Enzon is entitled to and Servier IP UK shall pay to Enzon
US$7,000,000. This payment shall be made by Servier IP UK by wire transfer within three (3) business days of the date of the reception by Servier IP UK ofa
copy ofthe required and completed claim form sent by Enzon in order to benefit from the provisions of the Double Tax Treaty between the United States and
the United Kingdom regarding the limitation of withholding tax. More precisely for this purpose, the parties of this letter agreement must follow the
following procedure:

a) Enzon completes the Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HRMC) claim form available on the following link:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/international-tax-uk-usa-double-taxation convention-form-us-company;

b) Enzon sends the completed HMRC claim form together with a copy of the license agreement with the US form 8802 to the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS);

¢) The claim form is signed/stamped by the IRS which sends it to HMRC together with a US Form 6166 issued by the IRS;

d) Enzon sends a copy of'the claim form duly signed/stamped by the IRS to Servier IP UK;

e) Servier IP UK pays the Milestone to Enzon within three (3) business days of the reception of the claim form duly signed and completed as indicated
above.

The following provisions of this letter agreement shall take effect once such payment is made.

2. Waiver. Pursuant to Section 7.24(a) of the APA, Servier IP UK Limited, as successor-in-interest to Defiante (“Servier IP UK”), must use,
and must cause its Affiliates to use, Applicable Efforts to (a) pursue, in a reasonably timely manner, the development and approval of SS Oncaspar and SC
Oncaspar and (b) implement and conduct all research, development and clinical manufacturing activities for, and regulatory activities with respect to, SS
Oncaspar and SC Oncaspar that are components of or directly related to or required for the achievement of the milestone payments contemplated by Section
3.3 ofthe APA. Servier IP UK and Enzon have agreed that Servier IP UK shall not be required to pursue the development of SC Oncaspar in Europe. As a
result, Enzon hereby waives compliance by Servier IP UK with its obligations under Section 7.24(a) of the APA to use Applicable Efforts to (i) pursue the
development of SC Oncaspar in Europe and the approval of SC Oncaspar by the EMEA and (ii) implement and conduct all research, development and
clinical manufacturing activities for, and regulatory activities with respect to, SC Oncaspar that are components of or directly related to or required for the
achievement of the milestone payments contemplated by Section 3.3(a)(iii) of the APA. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed a waiver by Enzon of
Servier IP UK’s compliance with its obligations under Section 3.3(a)(iii) of the APA.




3. Consent to Acquisition. Pursuant to Section 3.3(c) of the APA, until the last payment contemplated by Section 3.3 of the APA has been
made to Enzon, Defiante, Klee and their Affiliates shall not sell, assign, transfer, dispose of or convey any of the Products, including Oncaspar® (and any
successor product thereof) or the Business (including the manufacture, marketing and sale of Oncsapar®) to a third party unless such third party has agreed, in
manner reasonably satisfactory to Enzon, to be bound by the terms and conditions of Section 3.3 of the APA and to assume all of the obligations of Defiante
and Klee contemplated by the APA. The Servier group acquired Shire’s oncology business, including Oncaspar®, on August 31,2018 (the

“Acquisition”). In
connection with the Acquisition, the Servier group acquired 100% of the equity of Servier IP UK (known at the time of the Acquisition as Sigma-Tau Pharma
Limited). Servier IP UK retained all of'its rights and obligations under the APA and remained bound by the terms and conditions of Section 3.3 ofthe APA.
Enzon hereby (a) consents to the Acquisition, (b) acknowledges and agrees that the Acquisition does not constitute a breach of, default under or violation of
the APA, and (c) waives any rights of prior approval of the Acquisition pursuant to Section 3.3(c) of the APA.

4. Provision of Materials. As promptly as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, Enzon shall provide to Servier IP UK (a) copies of all
material written communications between Enzon and Servier IP UK (or any predecessor-in-interest thereto) relating to the achievement of milestones or the
assignment of obligations under the APA, that are reasonably available to Enzon, including notices, meeting minutes, and other correspondence, (b) copies of
all material written communications between Enzon and Servier IP UK (or any predecessor-in-interest thereto) relating to the APA, that are reasonably
available to Enzon, including notices, notices of breach, and meeting minutes, and (c) copies of all exhibits to the APA.

5. Effect of Waivers. The APA is and shall continue to be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and, except as expressly set
forth in this letter agreement, no other waiver under or modification of the APA is agreed to or implied.

6. Governing Law and Forum. This letter agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
Delaware. Section 12.8 of the APA shall also apply to this letter agreement.

7. Counterparts. This letter agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by facsimile and .pdf file), each of which

shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. The parties to this letter agreement need not
execute the same counterpart.

[Signature Page Follows]




If this letter agreement reflects Enzon’s agreement and understanding, please acknowledge and sign on the next page.

Sincerely,

SERVIER IP UK LIMITED

By: /s/ Claude Bertrand
Name: Claude Bertrand
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Letter Agreement]




Acknowledged and agreed to as of the date first written above:

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew Rackear
Name: Andrew Rackear
Title: CEO

[Signature Page to Letter Agreement]




EXHIBIT 21.1
ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Subsidiary State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

SCA Ventures, Inc. Delaware




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries on Form S-3 (No. 333-137723)
and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-174099, 333-140282,333-134453,333-132467,333-121468,333-101898, 333-64110, and 333-18051) of our report dated February
21, 2019, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for each of the years then ended, which report is

included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed on or about February 21,2019.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

EISNERAMPER LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 21,2019




1.

2.

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

, Andrew Rackear, certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2018 of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

February 21,2019 /s/ Andrew Rackear

Andrew Rackear
Chief Executive Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)




1.

2.

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

, Richard L. Feinstein, certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2018 of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

February 21,2019 /s/ Richard L. Feinstein

Richard L. Feinstein
Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Andrew Rackear, Chief Executive Officer and Secretary of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

February 21,2019 /s/ Andrew Rackear
Andrew Rackear
Chief Executive Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)

Assigned original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of 2002 has been provided to Enzon Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and will be furnished to the Securities Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Richard L. Feinstein, Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

February 21,2019 /s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein
Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Assigned original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of 2002 has been provided to Enzon Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and will be furnished to the Securities Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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